


GLENCOE PARK DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

        Tuesday, February 18, 2020 – 7:00pm 
  Takiff Center - Community Hall  

Consistent with the requirements of the Illinois Compiled Statutes 5 ILCS 120/1 
through 120/6 (Open Meetings Act), notices of this meeting were posted. 

Meeting Location:  Takiff Center, 999 Green Bay Road, Glencoe, IL 60022 

A G E N D A 
I. Call to Order

II. Roll Call
III. Consent Agenda Items

A. Minutes of January 21, 2020 Regular Board Meeting (pgs. 4-17)
B. Minutes of February 4, 2020 Finance Committee of the Whole Meeting (pgs. 18-20)
C. Approval of the Bills (pgs. 21-34)

IV. Matters from the Public
V. Public hearing concerning the intent of the Board of Park Commissioners to sell not to 

exceed $4,500,000 General Obligation Limited Tax Park Bonds for the payment of land 
condemned or purchased for parks, for the building, maintaining, improving and 
protecting of the same and the existing land and facilities of the District and for the 
payment of the expenses incident thereto. (pgs. 35-37)

VI. Financial Report (pgs. 38-41)
VII. Staff Reports

A. Business (pg. 43)
B. Recreation and Facilities (pgs. 44-48)
C. Parks and Maintenance (pgs. 49-50)
D. Marketing and Communications (pgs. 51-52)
E. Safety and Wellness Committee (pgs. 53)

VIII. Executive Director Report (pgs. 54-65)
IX. Action Items

A. Approval of Glencoe Youth Services and SNAP Stipend Request (pgs. 66-75)
B. Approval of Glencoe Jr. High Project Stipend Request (pgs. 76-101)
C. Approval of Contract with Christopher B. Burke Engineering (pgs. 102-119)
D. Approval of Contract with Midwest Mechanical (pgs. 120-161)

X. Other Business
XI. Executive Session

A. Personnel 5ILCS 120/2 (c)(1)
XII. Adjournment

The Glencoe Park District is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in 
order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the 
accessibility of the meeting or facilities, are asked to contact the Park District at 847-835-3030. Executive 
Director Email: lsheppard@glencoeparkdistrict.com  



III. Consent Agenda Items
Section 2.06(b) of the Open Meetings Act allows a public entity to approve

minutes either within 30 days after the relevant meeting OR at the public body’s
second subsequent regular meeting, whichever is LATER. For consistency, all

minutes will be approved at the subsequent Regular Board Meeting.

Items on the Consent Agenda are representative of routine actions by the Board
of Directors or staff. Members of the Board of Park Commissioners are invited
and encouraged to call the Executive Director prior to the meeting with any

questions about consent agenda items.

The Board President asks for a motion to adopt the consent agenda items.
However, if any member of the Board wishes to discuss any item on the consent
agenda, for any reason whatsoever, he or she may ask that the item be removed

from the consent agenda and the President will change the agenda per the
request.

The Executive Director recommends approval of the consent agenda.

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



 
 

DRAFT 
 

MINUTES OF JANUARY 21, 2020 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
GLENCOE PARK DISTRICT 

999 GREEN BAY ROAD, GLENCOE, ILLINOIS  60022 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:02pm and roll was called. 
 
Commissioners present:  Staff present: 
Lisa Brooks, President Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director/Secretary 
Stefanie Boron, Vice President Carol Mensinger, Director of Finance/HR 
Michael Covey, Treasurer Chris Leiner, Director of Parks/Maintenance 
Josh Lutton, Commissioner Bobby Collins, Director of Recreation/Facilities 
Dudley Onderdonk, Commissioner    Erin Classen, Supt. of Marketing/Comm.         
 Jenny Runkel, Administrative Assistant 
 
Members of the public in attendance who signed in or spoke: Eric Anderson, Erika 
Block, John Carothers, Jim Carper, Katie Copenhaver, Katalin Demeter, Lisa DiChiea, 
John Duncan, John Eifler, Karen Ettelson, Bill Fritz, Adrienne Gallagher, Ed Goodale, 
Lisa Goodale, Barbara Gordon, Paul Guten, Marla Hand, John Houde, Barbara Javore, 
Scott Javore, Mark Kaufmann, Geoff Kehoe, David Kulakofsky, Karen Leeds, John 
Martin, Sally Martin, Jim Nyeste, Barbara Olinger, Mary Osimitz, Janice Penner, John 
Penner, Bonnie Phoenix, Mary Seyfarth, Elsabi Shimmelpenninck, Ron Scherubel, 
Catherine Schutte, Evey Schweig, Charlie Sweat, Kelly Sweat, Lisa Temkin, Ellen Van 
Vechten, Peter Van Vechten, Debra Warren, Cookie Werner, Glenn Werner, Vanessa 
Zoerb 
 
Consent Agenda:  A motion was made by Commissioner Onderdonk to approve the 
consent agenda items as presented including Minutes of December 17, 2019 Regular 
Board Meeting, Minutes of January 6, 2020 Committee of the Whole Meeting, Approval 
of Personnel Policy Manual Updates, Approval of FY2020/21 Regular Meeting 
Schedule, and Approval of the Bills. Commissioner Boron seconded the motion. No 
further discussion ensued. Roll call vote taken: 
  AYES: Boron, Covey, Lutton, Onderdonk, Brooks 
  NAYS: None 
  ABSENT: None 
The motion passed. 
 
Matters from the Public - General: Jim Carper questioned snow and ice policies. The 
District does a good job on parking lots and the trail around Takiff and asked the District 
to continue from the entrance all the way to the railroad tracks on the sidewalk. 
 
Presentation by Glencoe Historical Society (GHS) Regarding Request to Lease a 
Portion of Park 7n for the Placement of the Frank Lloyd Wright Cottage: Executive 
Director Sheppard explained that Glencoe Historical Society requested an agreement to 
use a portion of Park 7n located at Maple Hill and Meadow Road for the relocation of 
the Frank Lloyd Wright Cottage for a 99-year land lease measuring 64 feet x 28 feet for 
a 900 square foot cottage.  The lease, which was included in the Board packet, was 



 

2 
 

reviewed.  The neighbors were notified for this meeting via 78 letters hand-delivered to 
neighbors and surrounding areas. It was also shared via email blast and social media 
from the District and Village. Emails from neighbors who could not attend were shared 
with the Board prior to the meeting. Ed Goodale, President of Glencoe Historical Society 
introduced the Booth Cottage Committee and thanked the Board and public. 
 
Vanessa Zoerb gave the presentation attached to these minutes. Zoerb added the 
facility will not be active, just used perhaps monthly or for special events. Traffic will be 
minimal and parking available on Old Green Bay Road in commuter parking. GHS has 
the funds for relocation and restoration. No public funding is needed for this project as it 
is funded through private donations and grants. 
 
Peter Van Vechten, Chair of the Glencoe Preservation Commission and homeowner in 
Ravine Bluffs. He expounded on the history of Frank Lloyd Wright and Glencoe, sale of 
the property, interest nationally, and proposal as a solution for the Cottage’s long-term 
future. The cottage is an honorary Glencoe landmark which requires a six-month delay 
in issuing a demolition permit in order to consider alternatives to demolition. The 
developers worked with the Village and Historical Society to form a solution, now eight 
weeks after the six-month period. Time is of the essence or the cottage will be 
demolished. The cottage fits in with the original use and design of the Park 7n as part of 
Ravine Bluffs. It keeps the design and vision intact. The Preservation Commission 
wholeheartedly supports this. As a homeowner of Ravine Bluffs, the cottage will be 
nestled into the wooded area leaving the open park space. The asphalt path is 
crumbling to be fixed during construction. Van Vechten thanked the Park District and 
vocalized he and his wife support the project.  
 
Matters from the Public – Frank Lloyd Wright Cottage:  
 
Sally Martin lives directly across from 7n, the most impacted by this proposal. Martin 
commented that they should have been informed more than three days prior, this is 
commercialization of a residential area, devalues view and property value, increases 
traffic and parking, and the year of construction. Martin needs clarification on hours. 
This is devastating. Until they meet with the Historical Society and Park District, it 
shouldn’t be voted on. 
 
Charlie Sweat made two points on the proposal. The Park District is donating a ½ acre 
of land for the structure, worth about $400,000. Next month there is a $4.5 million bond 
issue, that doesn’t seem fiscally responsible without a feasibility study not done here. 
There are several FLW structures not given historical status with the possibility of a 
repeat situation. This is a slippery slope accepting this proposal. 
 
Barbara Gordon, Executive Director of the Frank Lloyd Wright Building Conservancy in 
Chicago, explained that 20% of FLW homes have been destroyed, reviewed the 
Conservancy’s history and mission, the action taken to save the cottage, and the 
importance of saving the cottage. Gordon thanked GHS and the Village. The 
Conservancy is in favor of the proposal.  
 



 

3 
 

Erica Block, city planner, Landmark’s Illinois board member and member of the Glencoe 
Preservation Commission commented on the importance of the cottage, the efforts of 
those involved, and the Preservation Commission reviewing the ordinance regarding 
honorary landmarks to manage saving threatened buildings. Block supports the project. 
 
Deborah Warren commented on decreased sale value of the home next to the cottage, 
devaluing properties, increased parking, increased traffic, and construction madness. 
Warren supports saving the Cottage, but doesn’t want it in her front yard. She 
questioned if someone would be there during open hours monitoring? Warren is not 
interested in a house open to the public near her house or children. 
 
John Duncan spoke on FLW houses making Glencoe special, the cottage adds to a 
disused park area, positive value to homes, and is an important piece of property fitting 
in with other Glencoe FLW homes. 
 
Lisa DiChiea of Landmark of Illinois included the Cottage on the endangered list in 
2019. She commented on the efforts to find a solution otherwise the Cottage will be 
demolished, interest in moving it outside of the Village, Village Board’s discomfort 
moving it outside city limits, addressing neighbor’s concerns, the reduced original 
footprint of the property being moved, and the Cottage not being protected. 
 
Lisa Temkin of the Historical Preservation in Highland Park spoke on a threatened FLW 
house. She commented that a historic structure is a resource to the whole community 
with studies showing increased property values, and her house is landmarked.  
 
Jim Nyeste, unlike neighbors is in favor of the project, the proposed site is favorable, an 
advocate of preserving landmarks. Nyeste has a condition, the Board seems inclined to 
develop open spaces and will only approve if the park remains otherwise the same; no 
paths, exercise equipment, and leave it an open space to play frisbee, walk dogs, etc.  
 
John Martin commented he lives near the park, wants someone to respond to the 
twelve-month flood zone, shock an old tired building would be moved to a flood area. 
Martin questioned how this can be voted on until the flooding is solved? Unless the park 
is fixed, it is unfair to place the house in the flood zone across from his front door.  
 
John Penner commented on being in favor of project with the concentration of FLW 
homes, bridge, and monuments, area has ponding water not a flood zone solved in the 
plans, and would not negatively affect property values at all. 
 
Catherine Shulte was not a fan of this project, but is on the fence for a couple reasons. 
An empty building next to the bike path and parking in front of homes are concerns. 
Everyone in the neighborhood needs concerns resolved and needs more time.  
 
David Kulakofsky voiced concern over an unstaffed building open during the day, no 
controls in place, children’s safety, structure maintenance over the 99-year lease when, 
and increased parking. 
 



 

4 
 

Mary Seyfarth, Highland Park resident and Historical Commission for nine years, shared 
comments on FLW home history in Highland Park, a great addition to the community, 
increases value of property, practical problems of the neighbors can be solved, and it 
gives a history of design and concept of FLW in Glencoe. 
 
Paul Guten shared a deep appreciation for FLW architecture and history and made 
comments including parking and traffic, construction, perhaps there is a better location, 
massive children’s safety concern, keeping the integrity of the neighborhood, and to 
please look at other locations.  
 
At the Board’s request, GHS addressed hours and staffing. Ed Goodale explained the 
lease includes a 9am-5pm daily use limitation, but will not come close to using those 
hours. Their current Park Avenue campus is open from 10am-3pm on Wednesdays for 
research and 1-4pm on Sundays with a docent. The cottage won’t be used to that 
extent. GHS will use it for meetings, but not sure of other use at this point. When open, 
the cottage will be staffed and secured when not in use via CCTV recorded coverage.  
 
Robert Breyer voiced concern over other homes that may need to be protected, 
timeline, more parking and foot traffic, funding required to keep to keep the structure in 
good repair over the years, negatives underestimated, and positives overstated. 
 
Board Discussion on Booth Cottage:  
 
In response to a question from Commissioner Onderdonk, Executive Director Sheppard 
explained that the lease requires GHS to keep the cottage in good condition with 
ramifications. If not, the lease is revoked with the possibility of the house moved from 
the site. GHS has managed the Park Avenue house for 20 years in pristine condition, 
and neighbors have only positive comments of GHS. 
 
In response to a question from Commissioner Covey, Ed Goodale responded that GHS 
did not reach out to the neighbors of Park 7n because of the inappropriateness of 
communication during negotiations of lease provisions. 
 
Executive Director Sheppard added that the District needed to make sure GHS would 
be held accountable for hours, upkeep, and ensure they had the funds. Once the Board 
and GHS came to an agreement is when the neighbors were notified of this meeting. In 
addition, there is a surety bond to make sure they have the funds to complete the 
outside of the house and an ADA accessible sidewalk to the house. 
 
Commissioner Lutton voiced sympathy for the neighbors over the short timeline of a few 
days or a week ago. They completed a reasonable search concluding with not a great 
list of properties available at a reasonable cost. The permanent loss of a cultural artifact 
against an unreasonable short timeframe is why commissioners were elected to make 
the best decision given those facts. 
 
In response to a question from Commissioner Lutton, Daniel Creaney, project civil 
engineer in Northbrook, will do a detailed topography including utilities and storm sewer 



 

5 
 

system that drains the property. Same as any Glencoe house, it requires a storm sewer 
system that drains the house and entire property, accomplished by extending the storm 
sewer from the public sewer to the site, site drainage, and regrading. Creaney believes 
it will fully address the drainage issues. A basement is under consideration, requiring 
soil borings to see ground and water conditions.   
 
In response to a question from Executive Director Sheppard, Scott Javore, architect on 
the Glencoe Historical Society Board and the Commission, shared the initial 
construction will take about four months including the move. The site will be protected 
with fencing in an area as tight as possible until the foundation is installed. The house is 
placed in an area next to the foundation until they place the footings. Phase 1 includes 
the outside portion for four months, then phase 2 for interior work with fundraising 
needed to complete the work, and programming within the building. This project has 
been fast tracked in every way.  
 
Commissioner Boron commented on struggling this week because of the timing issue 
and feels we’ve failed the neighbors since we are up against a wall because the 
timeline. It is a struggle and we respect everyone’s position. 
 
In response to a question from President Brooks, Phil Kiraly voiced working with Public 
Safety on parking enforcement and signage, awareness that commuter parking is one 
block away, GHS to direct patrons to commuter parking, awareness that people will park 
close to their target location, various means for Public Safety to maintain parking, 
limiting hours, and working closely with the Park District and GHS to find a solution. 
 
In response to a question from President Brooks, Ed Goodale stated the cottage is 1100 
square feet and Director Leiner stated the park is 43,000 square feet, a little less than 
3% of the park size. Executive Director Sheppard explained there are no plans for this 
park other than the building, drainage improvement, mowing and tree maintenance, 
minor landscaping around the building, and ADA pathway also used as a train 
thoroughfare. 
 
Two or three members of the public remained concerned about children’s safety 
following GHS’s clarification on hours and staffing. The Board asked the public to 
elaborate, comments included more parking, random people, kids go there to play in the 
park, lawn not mowed enough, dandelions, would not feel comfortable with kids going 
with other people visiting the park, and saturation of an already horrible area. 
In response to a question from Sheppard, Ed Goodale stated that usage is unknown 
until they go through the programming exercise, possibly a couple people per month. 
Every year, 150 second graders tour their current facility and a couple homes via bus 
once a year program. Vanesa Zoerb added that it is not a community building, usage is 
so minimal it’s not worth talking about.  
 
Commission Covey voiced the valid concern of residents wanting something more 
tangible in hours. Commissioner Boron agreed that GHS should be able to give a better 
description of usage. In response, Karen Ettelson, Vice-President of GHS, stated the 
lease hours are not accurate use times, they are to give flexibility to develop hours 



 

6 
 

based on docent availability. GHS would continue to be very good neighbors and would 
work with the neighborhood to resolve issues. Executive Director Sheppard suggested 
to add a maximum number of public hours to the lease, such as 15 hours, with a review 
of hours in one year. 
 
In response to a question from Commissioner Lutton, Peter Van Vechten reviewed 
Glencoe’s two levels of landmark status which protect a structure from demolition, 95-
98% are honorary landmarks which gives a six-month delay to issue a permit for 
exploration of demolition alternatives, the developer in this case was willing to work 
toward a solution, the permit is not issued yet, developer agreed to not proceed with 
demolition prior to January 30, and the permit is not ready for issuance with minor 
issues, if they have fulfilled all requirements they can demo on February 1. Village 
Manager Kiraly expounded that a demo permit does not get issued until a building 
permit is issued so the review process can begin. There are a few outstanding issues 
related to issuing the permit, if the developer can resolve issues the permit would be 
ready. There is no discretion after the six-month waiting period for the Village to stop 
demolition. 
 
Action Items: 
 
Approval of the Land Lease with Glencoe Historical Society:  President Brooks called 
for the motion with the condition to approve the lease with continued discussion and 
clarification on Lease Item 1d to specify hours, approval of the lease conditional of that 
discussion. Discussion ensued on details of the motion. Comments not related to the 
motion were as follows. Commissioner Covey noted this is public land, not private land. 
Commissioner Boron is having a problem that this has been in negotiations for months, 
but no public input until today and having a problem with this decision. The District 
requires GHS volunteers to have a criminal background check, a safety precaution in 
case children wander in.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Onderdonk to approve the Land Lease with the 
exception of 1D that will have limitations on use to 15 hours per week with additional 
hours under the approval of the Executive Director with the revisiting of 1D in a year. 
Commissioner Lutton seconded the motion. No further discussion ensued. Roll call vote 
taken:   
 AYES:  Covey, Lutton, Onderdonk, Brooks 
 NAYS:   Boron 
 ABSENT: None 
The motion passed. 
 
A five-minute break was taken from 8:53pm to 8:58pm. 
 
The Board moved the BINA discussion and all action items up in agenda. 
 
Discussion of the BINA Hearing: Director Mensinger explained that Watts debt is falling 
off and is a good time to add new debt. She reviewed the history. With Watts and 
maintenance facility projects, the total is about $14 mill in the next 3-6 years. Looking at 



 

7 
 

other fund resources like grants and donations, the District will need to issue debt at a 
good time as rates are declining. Staff is looking for Board approval of the order to do a 
BINA hearing next month. 
 
Eric Anderson explained the process of bond issuance and hearing. 
 
Director Mensinger stated rates have come down, allowing the District to issue more 
debt without an impact to the taxpayer. There is no guarantee, but moving forward will 
allow the District to be ready for action at hopefully the lowest rate. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding cost, timing, wise use of funds at a relatively low cost, 
property tax rates, how to explain servicing debt to taxpayers, BINA hearing procedures, 
required 85% spent on capital projects only, and it is better to fund bonds all at once 
and recommended by Eric’s firm. 
 
Action Items: 
 
Approval of Order for BINA Hearing:  A motion was made by Commissioner Boron to 
approve the Order calling a public hearing concerning the intent of the Board of Park 
Commissioners of the Glencoe Park District, Cook County, Illinois, to sell not to exceed 
$4,500,000 General Obligation Limited Tax Park Bonds as presented. Commissioner 
Lutton seconded the motion. No further discussion ensued. Roll call vote taken: 
 AYES:  Boron, Covey, Lutton, Onderdonk, Brooks 
 NAYS:   None 
 ABSENT: None 
The motion passed. 
 
Approval of Altamanu Contract Addendum #2:  A motion was made by Commissioner 
Boron the Altamanu Contract Addendum #2 for an amount not to exceed $46,500 for 
the preparation and submission of construction documents for the Connect Glencoe 
project as presented. Commissioner Onderdonk seconded the motion. Director Leiner 
reviewed that the project includes about three times as much civil engineering in a 
project like this, a requirement to receive the grant. A higher quality project than we 
would have had otherwise. Grant money not delivered yet, IDOT becomes the bank, 
takes it to bid, and pays direct to the contractor. IDOT bills the District for our match in 
the amount of $183,000. When awarded the grant, we wanted to work with someone 
successful on the north shore and IDOT. We recommended going with them because 
they have extensive experience and understand the recreational component. They are 
on the pre-approved IDOT list. Roll call vote taken: 
 AYES:  Boron, Covey, Lutton, Onderdonk, Brooks 
 NAYS:   None 
 ABSENT: None 
The motion passed. 
 
Financial Report:  Director of Finance/Human Resources Mensinger stated we are ten 
months into the fiscal year. Other comments included the District maintaining in the last 
couple months, recreation and fitness making progress, the beach didn’t produce like 



 

8 
 

the last two years impacted by bad weather at the beginning of the season, and camp is 
like last year. The budget draft was distributed tonight. The Finance Committee of the 
Whole is scheduled on Feb 4. Boron and Onderdonk are out of town. Call in is an 
option. 
 
Staff Reports: Staff shared additional information not included in their Board Reports.  
 
Business Report: Staff are working on finishing up the fiscal year, the budget first draft 
looks good, and going to conference this week. 
 
Recreation and Facilities Report: Our successful and well-attended winter event, Watts 
Below Zero, included new ice bumper cars. Director Collins continued with comments 
including fitness is going in the right direction, Peloton added, hit 200 new members this 
year, moving fitness members from annual to monthly, and we received a bid for beach 
concessions. They discussed fitness promos. 
 
Parks and Maintenance Report: The public comment regarding snow/ice removal along 
Green Bay Road, staff remove snow in that area immediately, however the Village 
starts with higher priority areas like downtown creating a delay in clearing the areas next 
to the District. 
 
Marketing and Communications Report: Supt. Classen is a member of the Village 
Census Committee. 
 
Safety and Wellness Committee Report: No additional report to the packet. 
 
Executive Director Report:  Executive Director Sheppard shared that staff attend 
conference this week. Our Supt. of Marketing and Communications is expecting a baby 
in May. We received an OSLAD grant for Duke Park bringing the total of all grants and 
the donation to $1.567 million. The total project cost is $2 million; the District to fund $5-
600,000 total. 
 
Other Business: There was no other business. 
 
Executive Session: There was no reason to go into closed session. 
 
Adjourn: Commissioner Onderdonk moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:41pm. 
Commissioner Boron seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
                   
 

Lisa M. Sheppard 
Secretary 
 



SAVING BOOTH COTTAGE
Proposed Relocation to Park 7N
Public Hearing – January 21, 2020
Glencoe Historical Society Presentation



GLENCOE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Founded in 1937 and dedicated to

Promoting an understanding 
of Glencoe’s history and heritage by 

identifying and preserving objects, archives and photographs
and

engaging the community 
in a variety of programs, exhibits, activities and events related to 

the history of the Village of Glencoe, Illinois



BOOTH COTTAGE 
LOCATIONS





PROPOSED
PATH

FOR MOVE



Rendering of Relocated Booth Cottage



 

1 
 

  DRAFT 
  

MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 4, 2020 FINANCE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
GLENCOE PARK DISTRICT 

999 GREEN BAY ROAD, GLENCOE, ILLINOIS 60022 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:02pm and the roll was called.  
 
Commissioners present:  Staff present: 
Michael Covey, Chair/Treasurer  Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director/Secretary 
Lisa Brooks, President Carol Mensinger, Director of Finance/HR 
Josh Lutton, Commissioner Chris Leiner, Director of Parks/Maintenance 
 Bobby Collins, Director of Recreation/Facilities 
Commissioners absent: Erin Classen, Supt. of Marketing/Communications 
Stefanie Boron, Vice President 
Dudley Onderdonk, Commissioner 
 
Members of the public in attendance: There were no members of the public in attendance. 
 
Matters from the Public: There was no one wishing to address the Committee. 
 
GYS and SNAP Stipend Requests: Executive Director Sheppard explained that Glencoe 
Youth Services (GYS) has a new Executive Director who is revamping the whole program 
and leading the program in a great direction. Despite GYS’s increased request, staff 
advises not to increase their stipend, because the District does an incredible amount of in-
kind services including providing a building, $2,000 annual maintenance fund, and snow 
removal. They discussed the eventual roof replacement. 
 
GJHP Stipend Request: Glencoe Jr. High Project (GJHP) continues to be a great 
organization housed out of Central Middle School holding many programs for middle school 
teens. GJHP asked for the same amount last year. In response to questions from 
Commissioner Brooks, District 35 donates the building and theatre similar to the District’s 
in-kind donations. Director Mensinger referred to their audit, listing the school in-kind 
donation of $41,800 for the Oasis room and $31,900 for use of the theatre. 
 
The committee advanced for approval at the February Regular Board meeting an $10,000 
stipend for GYS and $1,000 for SNAP.  
 
The committee advanced for approval at the February Regular Board meeting a $10,000 
stipend for GJHP. Commissioner Covey abstained from any thoughts on the GJHP topic 
because of his spouse’s involvement with the group. Commissioner Brooks agreed with 
reservations that they should be fundraising. 
 
FY 2020/21 Budget – First Draft Review: Executive Director Sheppard and Director 
Mensinger met with Treasurer Covey before the meeting. Mensinger reviewed the First 
Draft Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2020/21 document. Staff answered Board questions 
and discussion ensued throughout the presentation of the budget draft. 
 



 

2 
 

As of February 29, 2020, the projected fund balance in the Corporate Fund of 
approximately $2.6 million will meet the reserve guideline of 50% of operating expenditures 
and the Recreation Fund balance of approximately $3.8 million will also meet the reserve 
guideline of 50% of operating expenditures. Given the combined total transfer of $1.5 
million from Corporate and Recreation Funds to Master Plan Fund 69, we can still meet the 
50% reserve guidelines in Corporate and Recreation Funds. After the FY2019/20 audit, we 
will look to transfer and additional $800,000 to $1 million into Fund 69 for future projects. 
The grand total we have been able to transfer from Corporate and Recreation over the past 
seven years is $7.3 million. This means we have not needed to issue new debt. In 
FY2020/21, we will look to issue Bonds for bigger Master Plan projects, primarily the Watts 
and Maintenance projects. Fund balance transfers included in this budget draft were 
approved by the Board in June 2019. The transfer of monies to fund Master Plan projects 
will be re-evaluated after the current year annual audit is completed and is presented to the 
Board in June 2020. 
 
Proposed Capital Projects: Capital projects were reviewed as well as Fund 65, Fund 69, 
and Fund 70 along with the Three-Year Capital Plan and facility projects. Mensinger noted 
the Bond issuance costs are to be paid from the Debt Service Fund, but proceeds will be 
recorded in the Capital Projects Fund. Discussion ensued and staff answered committee 
questions. 
 
Discussion of Proposed Annual Salary Merit Pool: Staff recommended a 3% merit pool 
increase for all full-time staff based on individual annual evaluation. Discussion ensued on 
the staff increase including CPI lower than the increase, market-based revenue covering 
increase, competitive salaries, tax increase to the community, spending less equaling fewer 
services and maintenance. 
 
Discussion of Proposed Conference/Training: There were no questions on the proposed 
training. 
 
Discussion of Proposed Program and Facility Fees: The committee recently reviewed 
beach pricing. Fees fluctuate based on market and instructors. Director Collins explained 
changes due to minimum wage increase and contractual setting prices also affected by 
minimum wage. The fees are going in the brochure. Discussion also ensued about minor 
changes to hours of operation at the beach and boathouse. 
 
Discussion of the Proposed GPD HVAC Maintenance Program: Director Leiner explained 
that Takiff’s HVAC units are in the last 25% of their useful life. The District has been 
historically spending around $31,000 per year for maintenance, up to $70-72,000 this year. 
The contract includes the GYS building, Takiff, and Watts for $82,000. No matter what 
happens, the contractor has to pay for repairs. Discussion ensued and staff answered 
committee questions. There will be decreases elsewhere in the budget, not needing to buy 
parts. 
 
The committee agreed the HVAC contract should be included in the budget. 
 
Discussion of the Proposed Landscaping Program: Director Leiner explained the rationale 
for bringing this item for discussion. We cannot keep saying this is the wettest year on 



 

3 
 

record and need to plan for the new normal. We are spending about $2,000 per park acre 
for maintenance including trees, mowing, landscaping, conservation, etc. The District has 
invested $6.5-7 million into the park system. This brought our parks up to a new level, but 
are having a difficult time with the current plan maintaining them without additional labor 
hours. Our current model works for mowing minus the flooding, but we are struggling with 
horticultural maintenance. Staff recommend adding an additional $50,000 bringing the total 
to $75,000 for horticulture, taking the $2,000 per acre up to $2,500 per acre. This will 
enable additional horticulture and surge maintenance. 20% of the costs will be passed on 
to our affiliates. Discussion ensued and staff answered committee questions. 
 
The committee agreed the budget should include the proposed landscaping program. 
 
Other: Executive Director Sheppard shared that we received FLW Cottage correspondence 
from the neighbors and asked to have a neighbor meeting with GHS to assuage fears. Not 
a Board or committee meeting, just a casual meeting of GHS answering questions. The 
meeting is to be announced. In response to a question from Commissioner Covey, 
Sheppard shared that we are developing FAQ’s to be added to our website.   
 
After a final review of the budget, the committee directed staff to bring the Approval Draft 
FY2019/20 Budget for approval at the March Regular Board meeting. Changes will be 
made as needed in the Budget Approval Draft for approval at the March 19, 2019 Regular 
Board Meeting. 
 
All staff were dismissed.  
 
Adjourn to Closed Session: At 9:03pm, Commissioner Lutton moved to adjourn into closed 
session to discuss personnel as mandated by Section 2.06. 5 ILCS 120/2 (c)(1). 
Commissioner Books seconded the motion, which passed unanimously by roll call vote. 
 
There was no action taken during or after closed session. 
 
Adjourn: Commissioner Covey moved to adjourn the meeting at 10:04pm. Commissioner 
Brooks seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
             
 

Lisa M. Sheppard 
Secretary 































V. BINA Hearing

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO: Board of Park Commissioners 
FROM: Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director 
SUBJECT: BINA Hearing 
DATE: February 13, 2020 
 
 
BINA Hearing 
 
The BINA hearing is held to receive public comments on the proposal to sell not to 
exceed $4,500,000 General Obligation Limited Tax Park Bonds for the payment of land 
condemned or purchased for parks, for the building, maintaining, improving and 
protecting of the same and the existing land and facilities of the District and for the 
payment of the expenses incident thereto (the “Park Bonds”) and that all persons 
desiring to be heard have an opportunity to present written or oral testimony with 
respect to this proposal after we present the information in this BINA hearing. 

 
The Park Board has been discussing the potential issuance of these bonds 
since June 2019. For the following reasons, the Board and staff agree that this 
is the best time to issue bonds: 
 
 The District has identified over $13 million in Master Plan project renovations and 

improvements within our District that will need to be addressed in the next five 
years: 
 
Watts Center Rink and Facility Improvements 
Park Maintenance Facility Improvements 
Milton Playground Replacement 
Lakefront Playground Replacement 
Friends Playground-Phase 2 
Veterans Memorial Improvements 
Bluff/Beach Surface Water Management 
Glencoe Beach Pier Replacement/Improvements 
West Baseball Field Improvements 
Takiff Center Flat Roof Replacement 
North Athletic Field Improvements 
 

 In 2020, the District has applied for a PARC grant for the Watts Center 
Renovation Project, which could potentially allow us to receive a $2.5 million 
grant towards the project cost. 

 The District’s 2010 Refunding Bonds (which were originally issued in 2001) will 
retire on December 1, 2020, and given the retirement structure for the proposed 
new bonds, it will not appear until next year’s tax bill. Given that the 2010 will be 
fully retired – the increase will be approximately $37 more to the average 
homeowner in Glencoe than this year. (This assumes an average home value of 
$800,000). 



MEMORANDUM 

 

 
 Current interest rates are at all-time lows.  Given today’s rates, we are looking at 

rates nearly half of the rate of the bonds that were issued in 2001 (6%). 
 

 The District has been able to transfer $7.3 million from fund balance reserves in 
the past seven years – which has resulted in not having to issue debt to fund our 
projects over the past five years.  This has greatly reduced the impact on 
taxpayers of the District. 
 



VI. Financial Report

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting







Glencoe Park District
Monthly Financial Analysis
January 2020

As of As of As of
1/31/2018 1/31/2019 1/31/2020

Recreation Department - Programs
Revenues 3,399,464 3,450,322 3,633,747
Wages (597,769) (612,208) (625,200)
Contractual (1,254,310) (1,209,444) (1,320,494)
Supplies (96,060) (111,361) (145,138)
     Net Surplus 1,451,325 1,517,309 1,542,915

Day Care Department
Revenue 895,483 1,138,355 1,320,342
Expense (662,858) (926,612) (1,156,788)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) 232,625 211,743 163,554

Fitness Department
Revenue 40,138 42,318 25,236
Expense (5,870) (35,262) (44,544)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) 34,268 7,056 (19,308)

Beach Department
Revenue 318,034 322,001 287,959
Expense (249,069) (237,001) (240,260)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) 68,965 85,000 47,699

Boating Department
Revenue 114,828 106,663 108,520
Expense (116,701) (148,345) (159,768)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) (1,873) (41,682) (51,248)

Beach/Boating Dept Total: 67,092 43,318 (3,549)

Watts Department
Revenue 108,260 117,849 142,500
Expenses (202,759) (196,797) (229,159)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) (94,499) (78,948) (86,659)

G & A (Administration)
Revenue (excl G&A Tfr) 30,463 30,383 28,253
Expense (1,023,819) (1,064,673) (1,077,788)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) (993,356) (1,034,290) (1,049,535)

Parks Department
Revenue 5,870 18,817 12,407
Expense (970,098) (932,051) (1,078,099)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) (964,228) (913,234) (1,065,692)

Rec-Admin/Takiff  Department
Revenues 1,217,856 1,285,750 1,325,946
Expenses (2,743,503) (2,232,494) (2,523,723)
     Net Surplus/(Deficit) (1,525,647) (946,744) (1,197,777)



VII. Staff Reports

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



Glencoe Park District 
Business Department Report 

February 2020 
 
FY2020/21 Budget 
The First Draft of the proposed FY2020/21 Budget was completed and distributed to the 
Board of Park Commissioners on January 21. It was discussed in detail at the February 
4 Finance Committee of the Whole Meeting. All changes from that meeting, as well as 
more refined projected current year amounts, will be reflected in the Approval Draft of 
the budget which is tentatively scheduled to be approved at the regular meeting on 
March 17.  After the required period for public inspection, the Budget and Appropriations 
Ordinance will then be approved at the regular meeting on April 21. 
 
Front Office 
Early Learning Center and GJK Preschool pre-registration (for next school year) was 
held January 13- 31, and open registration began February 3. Registration for next 
school year’s Early Learning Center preschool is non-lottery, i.e. first-come, first-served.  
 
Annual Staff Performance Evaluations 
As we approach the end of the current fiscal year, staff is busy preparing annual 
performance evaluations on all full-time staff and many permanent part-time staff. 
Salary increases are based solely on merit, and will be effective March 1, 2020. 
 
FY2019/20 Audit 
Yet another fiscal year end is right around the corner (February 29). As such, staff has 
begun to prepare the annual audit confirmation letters, as well as the many audit 
schedules required as part of the District’s annual audit. Staff also met with managing 
partner, Ron Amen, on January 21 to discuss pre-audit planning. Closing journal entries 
will occur in early March. The auditors are scheduled for preliminary fieldwork on March 
10 and final fieldwork on the week of April 27-30. 
 
Illinois Parks and Recreation Annual Conference 
Liz and I attended the annual conference downtown at the Hyatt Hotel on January 23-
25. In addition to the many networking opportunities with other professionals and board 
members, I visited the large exhibit hall, attended the all-conference luncheon, attended 
the IPRA Annual Meeting, and earned .8 CEUs toward my CPRP recertification/ 
renewal. 
 
ACA Reporting 
Staff completed and distributed the 1094-C and 1095-C Forms which are required to be 
sent to employees (and IRS) for ACA reporting purposes to show health insurance proof 
of coverage.  
 
Submitted by: 
Carol Mensinger, CPRP 
Director of Finance/Human Resources 



Glencoe Park District 
Recreation and Facilities Department 

February 2020 
 
Recreation Department Report: Bobby Collins 
Most of the Recreation Team attended the IPRA conference in January, where our 
Beach S.A.F.E. program received the IPRA Program of the Year Award. The team has 
also been completing annual staff performance evaluations.  
 
Adam and his team are preparing Watts to finish a strong skating season. The facility 
closes for skating on March 1 (weather permitting), but Watts will continue to house 
Kids Club, Action Quest, and dance/theater programs.  
  
The fitness center is officially open for its third year of operation. We are continuing to 
watch membership renewals and new registrations, which have been strong.  
 
The team continues to work on the spring and summer brochure, being delivered to 
residents in early March. Liz Visteen and Stephani Briskman are busy certifying our 
preschool teachers and recreation staff in first aid, CPR, and AED. 
 
Early Childhood: Jessica Stockl 
The Early Childhood wing had fun playing in the snow and exploring a new sensory 
experience this month. The Belugas enjoyed weekly skating lessons at Watts, while our 
ELC 4s had a wonderful time hosting their families for the annual Chinese New Year 
celebration.  
 
Children’s Circle has nine infants scheduled to start over the next seven months while 
the older infants move to the Frog classroom. Our waitlist is still closed. We do not 
foresee any openings in Jellyfish in the next year nor in Dolphins or Belugas in the next 
two years based on current enrollment.   
 

Children’s Circle Enrollment 
As of 2/3 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 
Jellyfish 10 8 15 
Frogs 11 10 14 

Turtles (NEW) 14 14 0 
Starfish 15 13 17 

Dolphins (NEW) 20 15 0 
Belugas 16 17 21 

Total 86 77 67 
 
ELC welcomed two new families, one to ELC 2s and one to ELC 3s this month.  Priority 
registration for 2020-2021 opened to current families on January 13 and all the current 
families re-registered. Registration opened to the public on Monday, February 3. Our 4s 
program is full for the 2020-2021 school year, however we have opened a waitlist and 
will consider a second classroom if the waitlist grows.  
 
 



ELC Enrollment 
As of 2/3 2019 2018 2017 
ELC 2s 19 18 19 
ELC 3s 16 16 19 
ELC 4s 18 27 42 

Kindergarten Readiness  16 7 (was part of 4s) 
Total 69 68 80 

 
Our preschool camp enrollment is healthy and well ahead of where we were this time 
last year with an increase in enrollment in both Koalas and Kinder Korner over the past 
month noted. Staff are booking field trips and performers. All Director positions are filled 
and staff are working on hiring counselors. 
 

Bears and Kinder Korner Enrollment  
As of 2/3 

Teddies (15 max) Pandas (32 max) Koalas (40 max) Kinder Korner (40 max) 
M/W/F 5 & T/TH 3   27 31 34 

 
Athletics/Teen Camps: Shannon Stevens 
With basketball ending, Adam and Shannon met with Deerfield and Highland Park to 
plan the end of season tournament on February 29. This season, Deerfield and 
Highland Park are hosting all games. For House League, 3rd/4th grade teams will begin 
playoffs March 7 with the season wrapping up on March 14 for Grades 1st-4th.  
 
As of now, we are trending slightly ahead of last year’s enrollment for Action Quest. 
Early bird registration began November 20, staff expect a spike in enrollment near 
February 29 when it ends. 
 

Action Quest Revenue 
As of 2/6 

2020 2019 
$18,828 $12,006 

 
Arts and Youth: Stephani Briskman 
On January 20, 26 children in the School Day Off program took part in Watts Below 
Zero’s ice skating, bumper cars, and dancing.  
 
As of February 5, youth camp revenue was $171,217 compared to $99,179 at the same 
time last year. New specialty camps offered this summer include Cooking Camps, 
STEAM camps, and City Slickers. Cooking camps provide an opportunity for campers to 
create recipes to take home and try with their family. Our STEAM camp programs offer 
campers a chance to create their own games and to design and create an electric harp. 
City Slickers explores Chicago by traveling on the CTA and visiting fun places 
throughout the city! 
 
Special Events & Active Adults: Liz Visteen 
The Park District’s annual winter event, Watts Below Zero, was a big success! Liz 
added bumper cars on the Studio Rink this year - a big hit. The event featured open 



skate on the main rink, iceless curling, winter-themed carnival games, popcorn, cotton 
candy, Deejay, and appearances from Gus, the Park District’s mascot, and Tommy 
Hawk, the Blackhawk’s mascot.   
 
2020 Special Event Attendance 2020 2019 
Sat., January 18 – Messy Morning ~ 50 families ~ 40-45 families 
Mon., January 20 – Watts Below Zero  ~ 300 ~ 250 
Fri., February 7 – Teen Ice Night 71 70 
Sat., February 8 – Incredible Bats ~ 100 Not offered 
Sun., February 9 – Daddy Daughter Dance 148 160 

 
Upcoming special events:  
Fri., February 21 Family Fun Night at Watts 
Fri., March 13 Youth Art Show 
Sun., March 15 How to Make a Leprechaun Trap 
 
Youth ceramics enrollment is strong this session with quite a few children on the waitlist. 
Adult programs began the week of January 6, as per usual many of the participants 
registered the first week of class.    
 

Enrollment 
As of 1/9 2020 2019 

Adult Ceramics 23 16 
Youth Ceramics 63 56 
Adult Art Programs 40 44 
Adult Workshops (one-day) 15 0 
Teen Programs 3 9 

 
Takiff, Fitness, & Watts: Adam Wohl 
 Glencoe Fitness 

 
 
 
 

We gained 81 new fitness center members from December 1 through February 5 
and 78 new members under the 2 Months for $2 deal. We have reached the highest 
number of active members since we opened the fitness center in 2018. 
 
Below is a chart of our monthly retention rate of fitness center members. Our overall 
retention rate is 43% and expect to see this number improve when monthly 
memberships on auto-renew hit their anniversary date. February is another big 
month for membership renewals. With 49 people up for renewal, 23 renewed already 
and we anticipate another 10-15 people to renew. 
 

Glencoe Fitness Membership  
As of 2/5 

2019-20 2018-19 
226 218 



 
 
 Watts Ice Center 

Watts Ice Center had an extremely successful season. We hosted Family Night on 
January 10, featuring a Frozen theme with Anna and Elsa visiting with the over 200 
people who attended. Coming up is our 2nd Family Night planned for Friday, 
February 21 from 6 to 8 PM with a cosmic night theme and fun activities planned.  

 
Watts Center Rental 

As of 1/31 2019-20 2018-19 
Room Rentals $7,218 $5,943 

Party Ice Rentals $22,978 $14,380 
Misc. Hockey Rentals $37,492 $29,646 

Totals $67,688 $49,969 
 

Watts Skating Classes 
As of 2/5 

2019-20  2018-19 
Enrollment Fees Enrollment Fees 

Snowplow Sam 79 $7,184 90 $8,550 
USFS Skating 29 $2,640 25 $2,470 
Minor Hawks 33 $3,120 31 $2,793 

Winter Break Camp 18 $1,200 24 $1,368 
Totals 159 $14,144 170 $15,181 

 
Watts Pass Sales 

As of 2/5 2019-20 2018-19  
Individual Pass $547 $512 

Family Pass $10,625 $9,776 
Combo Pass $3,916 $3,112 

Hockey 10 punch $2,450 $1,794 
Totals $17,538 $15,194 

43%

67%

43%

33%

50%

60%

0%

20% 20%

50%

67%

50%
47%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Dec 18 Feb 19 Mar 19 May 19 Jul 19 Aug 19 Oct 19 Dec 19 Jan 20 Mar 20

Fitness Member Retention Rate

Retention Rate



 Dekhockey 
We are negotiating a new contract for 2020 usage of the studio rink at Watts for 
Dekhockey including Learn to Play Dekhockey Clinics after school and plenty of free 
Open Dekhockey for the residents. John Scully will run Junior and Adult leagues 
beginning in late April throughout the spring, summer, and fall. More information to 
come in the coming weeks. 

 
 Programming – Dance & Theater 

Broadway Bound had their performances of Frozen Jr. on January 18-19 at the 
Winnetka Community House Matz Hall. We sold over 900 tickets for the four shows. 
The Broadway Bound spring show, Little Mermaid Jr., started rehearsals at the end 
of January. 

 
Submitted by: 
Bobby Collins, CPRP 
Director of Recreation and Facilities 
 



Glencoe Park District 
Parks & Facilities Maintenance Report 

February 2020 
 
Administrative 
Work continues with Altamanu/CBELL relating to ongoing capital projects including trail 
design, Duke Park design and Schuman Overlook bid preparations. I have started to 
kickoff bid preparations on several projects, including Takiff RTU replacement, Tot Gym 
Floor Replacement and Vehicle Replacement. I attended the annual IPRA Conference 
and Exhibit Hall. 
 
The contractor has suspended restoration work on the Halfway House until the weather 
improves. They will complete the project by early May.  
 
Grounds/Horticulture 
The horticulture crew has continued to perform dormant pruning from the ground 
throughout the district. We placed a major emphasis on the removal of overgrown 
shrubs/buckthorn at many locations.  
 
Parks Maintenance & Construction 
Staff has contended with the snow and cold temperatures. While snow fall has been 
light, staff has focused on ice management with special emphasis placed on parking 
lots, entrance/exits, and the ice surface. 
 
Staff made the most of the breaks in the weather. We fashioned new drawers for the 
beach house cabinets, concrete anchors completed for beach buoys, and maintenance 
completed on select bluff areas.  
 
After the serious winter storm, staff removed all the decking from the Pier at Glencoe 
Beach. We did this to prevent the broken debris from being spread up and down the 
shoreline. Staff is working with PDRMA and surrounding districts to develop a long-term 
plan. 
  
Staff has continued to balance seasonal tasks with routine maintenance such as; trash 
removal, snow removal, park grooming and playground inspections. 
 
Facilities 
Staff has focused on keeping facilities neat and clean this winter. Routine painting, 
ballast replacement, and heat checks have been a focus.  
 
The ongoing process of installing LED lights at Takiff continues.  
 
Athletic 
Staff began identifying athletic turf areas targeted for repair prior to the next outdoor 
sports season. 
 



Equipment 
Staff is servicing small engine equipment in preparation for the spring 2020 season.  
 
Shared Services 
The Village of Glencoe has continued to support the Park District by providing rock salt 
for the District to use on parking lots. Village mechanics have continued to support park 
operations by repairing trucks and equipment when time allows. 
 
Submitted by: 
Chris Leiner, CPRP 
Director of Parks & Maintenance 



Glencoe Park District 
Marketing/Communications Report 

February 2020 
 
Social Media/Email 
The month of January ended with 37,962 Facebook impressions (2019: 50,134 
impressions). We now have 1,813 followers on Facebook, 888 followers on Twitter, and 
1,425 followers on Instagram. Glencoe Beach has 2,208 followers and Watts 
Recreational Center has 261 followers on Facebook.  
 
We sent out several targeted email blasts, primarily focused on special events. 
 

Date Sent Campaign Name Total 
Sent 

Open 
Rate 

Click 
Through 

Rate 
Link 

1/31/2020 Daddy Daughter Dance 320 59.60% 11.10% https://conta.cc/2UAJNoW 
1/17/2020 Glencoe Fitness: Renew Early 19 50.00% 22.20% https://conta.cc/2OC6chU 
1/13/2020 New Peloton Bike 6328 37.80% 2.80% https://conta.cc/31z8TpH 
1/10/2020 FLW Booth Cottage 6332 37.10% 2.80% https://conta.cc/388AvV1 

1/8/2020 Watts Below/Messy Morning 6210 34.70% 14.50% https://conta.cc/2S752wX 
1/7/2020 Glencoe Fitness Parent Offer 32 59.40% 10.50% https://conta.cc/39g0Xfx 
1/6/2020 Frozen Family Fun Night 836 54.40% 8.00% https://conta.cc/2vRxom6 
 
Special Events 
I worked closely with our Recreation Team to market Itty Bitty New Year, Watts Below 
Zero, Messy Morning, Frozen Family Night, and Broadway Bound’s performance of 
Frozen, Jr. For each event, I created flyers, website graphics, posters, and event 
signage as well as email blasts, social media posts, and media pitches.  
 
Spring/Summer Guide 
This month, I focused primarily on creating the spring/summer guide. I worked closely 
with the Recreation Team to design, edit, and prepare the guide for print. The 
publication will be in mailboxes the last week of February.   
 
Glencoe Fitness 
To promote Glencoe Fitness membership, we designed a 2 Months for $2 campaign 
during December and January. We also sent targeted emails to specific groups, 
including those close to their renewal dates and non-resident parents of Children’s 
Circle. In addition, we began promoting our new Peloton bike on social media and 
online communications. We continue to offer our free 7-day trial and use an automated 
series of three emails to convert free trial users into members. I will include more details 
in the March fitness report.  
 
Preschool Enrollment 
Messy Morning is our traditional preschool open house. To recruit new families, we do a 
direct mail campaign to families within a 3-mile radius with children under the age of 5. 



We also promote the program on NextDoor, Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter, as well 
as through traditional posters, flyers, and email blasts. 
 
FLW Booth Cottage Meeting 
To communicate the Booth Cottage community input meeting, a letter was delivered to 
all residents in the Park 7n neighborhood. In addition, I sent an email blast to all 
Glencoe Park District subscribers, with a reminder sent seven days later to non-
openers. I also shared details on our website and shared with posts on Facebook, 
Instagram, NextDoor, and Twitter.  
 
Submitted by: 
Erin Classen 
Superintendent of Marketing and Communications 



SAFETY AND WELLNESS COMMITTEE
Agenda and Minutes

Wednesday, January 22, 2020 / 11:00 a.m.
(Please Note: Items in red print require action)

1. Call to order at 11:04 am

Roll Call: Present: Lisa Sheppard, Chris Leiner, Bobby Collins, Carol Mensinger, Liz Stowick, Liz Visteen, Adam
Wohl, Matt Walker, and Lauren Kinsey Absent: Jessica Stockl

2. Review of the Minutes: The Safety and Wellness Committee Meeting Minutes from December 18, 2019 were
reviewed and accepted.

3. Accident/Incident Review: Carol reported on the accident/incident reports for January. There were three (3)
participant incidents.

4. Facility and Park Inspection Review: Completed monthly inspections throughout the parks. Ongoing vigilance
required to maintain locker safety.

5. Open Claims: One (1) open property claim: A tree fell down on a resident’s fence and they are requesting a new
fence from the Glencoe Park District. Carol is checking with PDRMA in regards to the status of this claim. Seven
(7) remaining open worker comp claims…some should be closed soon.

6. Carry Over Items:
a) Further discussion within a Sub Committee (Chris Leiner, Bobby Collins, Adam Wohl and Jessica Stockl)

to take place regarding safety preparedness and the potential to bring in a safety consultant.
b) The remaining security devices for classroom doors were installed in the EC wing. Jessica will schedule a

staff training within the next month or so. Doors will not get employed until after the training.
c) Now that the holidays are over, Chris is setting up a meeting with PDRMA to finalize the pilot program B.
d) Liz Visteen will schedule CPR/First Aid training with the Parks Department, and recertifications with staff

who still have active certificates.

7. Certificate of Insurance Information: Please continue to submit any needed Certificate of Insurance
information, as requested. Jenny updates Certificate of Insurance a week before each meeting.

8. New Items:
a) A new incentive PDRMA check for $1,500 was received, and Glencoe Park District will match the

amount. Lisa Sheppard suggested the $1,500 from PDRMA be put towards Beach Safety since it was
program of the year. She further suggested that the additional $1,500 be used in the summer to
purchase items such as Gatorade to hand out to staff.

b) Discussion took place regarding a back up plan to keep children safe and warm should a fire occur
during Winter, and children be outside for more than 15 minutes. Ideas include: keeping keys to the
Park District vehicles in the warming blanket bags, using Park District vehicles to keep children warm and
transport them to Am Shalom, as well as staff having keys on them should they need to use their cars if
Park District vehicles are unavailable. In the Fall, a drill may be conducted to train staff on what to do
should a fire occur in Winter.

c) Glencoe Junior Kindergarten requested their classroom phones have long distance added so teachers
could call parents if a child is sick or in case of emergency. The decision was made not to add long
distance to their classrooms since there is no way to track long distance usage, and given that we don’t
do this for our own ELC and Daycare programs. Additionally, with a new contractual cleaning company
there is potential for unauthorized use. Teachers can continue to make long distance calls from Tammi’s
office. Lauren will let Tammi know what decision was made.

9. Wellness Initiatives:
a) PATH Biometric Screening scheduled for March 11, 2020 from 8am 11am. Sign up started January 1st.
b) A new Chill Out challenge is starting February 3, and is focused on staying active to help reduce stress

and promote good mental health.

Adjourn: 11:28 am

The next Safety and Wellness Committee Meeting has been scheduled for Wednesday, February 19 at 11:00 a.m.



VIII. Executive Director’s Report

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



Glencoe Park District 
Executive Director’s Report 

February 2020 
 
Strategic Plan Themes and Initiatives 
We made great progress last year on the Strategic Plan approved in June 2018. Since 
December, staff and I have been developing Objectives and KPI’s for the Themes and 
Initiatives outlined in the plan to continue progress for the next 3 years. The draft 
document is attached. At the meeting, we would like to start discussion on any 
changes/additions the Board would like to add to this document. The discussion will 
start tonight and continue into the March committee meeting, so everyone has time for 
reflection on items discussed at this Board meeting. 
 
Strategic Plan Web Link 
https://www.glencoeparkdistrict.com/Portals/0/SiteContent/PublicRecords/GlencoePark
DistrictStategicPlan061918.pdf 
 
Glencoe Beach 
Lake Michigan water levels broke the monthly record high for the first time in over 30 
years. Pounding waves, eroding bluffs, submerged trails, and disappearing beaches 
have become a common sight along the Lake Michigan shoreline during the past 
months. While lake levels usually reach their lowest point in winter, this year the lake 
has remained stubbornly high. 
 
High waves from Lake Michigan hit Glencoe Beach during the major winter storm, 
bringing freezing rain and wind gusts as high as 55 mph on January 11-12. The 
Glencoe Pier, the second longest in the North Shore, protected our beach at a cost. The 
trek decking was once again damaged by the storm and high-water levels are shrinking 
the beach area.  
 
We are working with IEMA (ILLINOIS EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY) and 
FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) regarding the storm damage on 
January 10-12. We are working with the six Cook County Lake Shore Communities and 
the City of Chicago to meet the minimum federal levels needed for disaster relief. To 
respond to the immediate challenges facing our lakefront as highlighted by the storm on 
January 10-12, the Governor has declared disaster status to ensure Chicago and other 
Lake Shore communities receive the support needed for addressing the long-term 
scope of this issue. We are working with all stakeholders at the state and federal level to 
protect and preserve Glencoe Beach. As more information becomes available, I will 
keep you up-to-date.  
 
The March committee meeting includes the beach to discuss in more detail. 
 
PARK 7n and FLW Cottage 
We have received communication and visits from residents that are both for and against 

https://www.glencoeparkdistrict.com/Transparency-Portal/Strategic-Planning


2 

moving the Booth Cottage to Park 7n. The following is a reiteration of the facts of the 
issue. 
 

What is the current status of the Park 7n lease? 
The lease for a small portion of Park 7n has been approved and signed by the 
Board. The relocation of the Booth Cottage is set to proceed, but the Park District 
continues to work with the Glencoe Historical Society, the Village of Glencoe, and 
Park 7n neighbors to listen, explain, and understand issues surrounding the lease. A 
meeting was held for all interested parties on Thursday, February 13. 
 
How was the public informed of the process? 
Park District Board and Staff apologizes for the rushed circumstances surrounding 
the lease of Park 7n; the timeliness of the issue made it impossible to provide more 
public notice of the Board meeting and prohibited a longer community engagement 
process. 
 
The Glencoe Park District follows the Illinois Open Meetings Act, which requires 
Board meeting notices, agendas, and action items to be publicly posted a least 48 
hours in advance of a meeting. The Board agenda and agenda for the January 21 
meeting was posted on January 17, more than 96 hours before the public meeting. 
Information on the cottage relocation and the land lease where available to the 
public at that time. 
 
Why did the Board make this decision? 
As elected representatives, the Park District Board of Commissioners is entrusted by 
constituents to make decisions that contribute to residents’ quality of life. The Board 
believes the decision to lease a portion of Park 7n for the preservation of a historical 
asset in the Ravine Bluffs area is important to the character of our village, historical 
preservation, architecture, and culture.  
 
The Board understands the neighbor’s concerns and will work with the Glencoe 
Historical Society and Village to mitigate concerns regarding parking, hours of 
operation, and transparency throughout the process.  
 
Will tax dollars will be used for the relocation of the Booth Cottage? 
No Glencoe Park District Tax Dollars will be used on the Booth Cottage relocation or 
lease.  
 
Anything else we should know? 
 The Glencoe Park District is working with the Village of Glencoe on parking 

restrictions for Meadow Road.  
 The Glencoe Park District is working with the Village of Glencoe to make 

improvements to the intersection of Maple Hill and Old Green Bay Road; the 
improvements are part of the forthcoming Connect Glencoe Project. 



3 

 The location of the Booth Cottage will be as close to the property line as code 
allows in order to maximizing park’s the open space. The house will only take up 
3% of Park 7n parkland. 

 A construction fence will only be put up around the house site, not the entire 
park. 

 Construction trucks will only be allowed to access Park 7n through Maple Hill. 
Any damage done to the park during construction will be fixed by the Glencoe 
Historical Society. 

 Park 7n is not in a flood plain, but it does hold water after a rainstorm. The 
Glencoe Historical Society will be required to address the standing water issue in 
the vicinity of the cottage as part of the relocation process. The Park District 
believes this will help improve the water that puddles on the walkway.  

 The main purpose of the FLW Cottage relocation to park property is for 
preservation. GHS intends to use the house for archiving of Glencoe historical 
material and occasional visitors, usually by appointment or limited hours open to 
the public. 

 The Cottage will be open to the public a maximum of 15 hours per week. Per the 
signed lease, these 15 hours can only be between 9 AM and 5 PM, with a 
maximum of 6 evening a year (not to surpass 10 PM). The Glencoe Historical 
Society cannot rent out the building and overnight events are not allowed.  

 The average visitors to the GHS current facility are an average of 5 people per 
week. Therefore, we do not anticipate a large increase in foot traffic 

 Parking for visitors to the Booth Cottage will take place on Old Green Bay Road. 
https://www.glencoeparkdistrict.com/News/Glencoe-Park-News/faqs-booth-
cottage-on-park-7n-1929 

 
Glencoe Youth Services, SNAP, and Glencoe Junior High Project  
Included in action items are Glencoe Youth Services/SNAP and Glencoe Junior High 
Project annual reports. We are requesting you act to approve the stipend amounts 
discussed and recommended during the Committee of the Whole meeting. 
 
IPRA/IAPD Conference 
Staff and I attended the annual conference downtown at the Hyatt Hotel on January 23-
25. Besides the many networking opportunities with other professionals and board 
members, I perused the large exhibit hall, attended the all-conference luncheon, 
attended the annual IPRA/IAPD Annual Meeting, and earned .8 CEUs toward my CPRP 
recertification/renewal. 
 
We are very proud for receiving the IPRA Program of the Year award for Beach 
S.A.F.E.! 
 
Liz Visteen was sworn in at the IPRA Business meeting as the IPRA Recreation Section 
Director. 
 
Capital Projects Planning 
Chris and I met with Altamanu on the Connect Glencoe Project. Final designs are 



4 

progressing to the bid stage. I would like to have a discussion on “social spaces” during 
the meeting for Board feedback. A reminder that these are unfunded elements, but the 
design of the elements are included in the contract. The elements are bid alternates to 
determine how much funds need to be allocated or raised for “social spaces.”  The 
designs are attached. 

Recreation and Facilities 
 
Fitness Area: With the new year came renewed interest in health and fitness. Erin and 
Adam did an excellent job positioning our fitness center as a great option to achieve 
those goals. We have seen membership numbers and participation soar this month. We 
also added a new Peloton bike, which is very popular with our members. 
 
Watts Ice Rink: The Watts ice skating and hockey season will wrap up on March 1, 
weather permitting. If we have longer than average colder weather, we will extend the 
season. Please refer to the Recreation and Facilities Report for more detailed 
information on Watts and the Fitness Center. 
 
Spring/Summer Brochure: Our Marketing, Recreation and Registration Teams are busy 
drafting the spring/summer brochure to be delivered to residents in early March. 
 
Legislative Breakfast 
Commissioner Brooks, Commissioner Onderdonk, and I attended the annual Legislative 
Breakfast in Glenview. 
 
Upcoming Meetings 
February 14:  Legislative Breakfast – Lisa Sheppard/Lisa Brooks/Dudley Onderdonk 
March 10:  Committee of the Whole meeting 
March 17: Board Meeting 
 
Freedom of Information Act Requests 
SmartProcedure requested purchasing records from December 23, 2019 to present on 
February 10 and was responded to on the same day. 

Submitted by: 
Lisa Sheppard, CPRP 
Executive Director 
 
 

 
 



Glencoe Park District Strategic Plan Key Performance Indicators ‐ Road Map for Next 2‐3 years

Theme Initiative  Objective Key Performance Indicator Definition Data Source Frequency Baseline Performance Target

Improve customer satisfaction  Overall satisfaction consists of both highly satisfied 
and satisfied customers

Customer survey Track seasonally, report annually Measure CY 2019 Data Annual improvement over benchmark

Increase number of program 
registrations/memberships/ 
refunds/rentals/visits

The total number of program registrations, 
memberships, and passes Attendance/registration report Track seasonally, report annually Measure CY 2019 Data  Annual improvement over benchmark

Website performance and online transactions Percentage of overall program registrations that are 
performed online RecTrac Track seasonally, report annually Measure CY 2019 Data Annual improvement over benchmark

Develop customer feedback system Develop program/service advisory group Overall customer satisfaction  Listen to community feedback on recreation issues 
and various services

Customer survey; advisory group 
meetings

Share advisory group minutes with Board; 
share customer survey results annually 
with the Board

Measure/benchmark program survey data Annual  improvement over baseline to 
increase score

Seek partnership opportunities Develop new partnerships; 
evaluate/formalize current partnerships Formalize partnership agreements

Develop strategic approach to partnerships that result 
in establishing mutually beneficial relationship for 
District and partners

Partnership agreements; partner annual 
survey  Annually

Any partnership over $10,000 should be 
evaluated annually

Partnerships that are financially 
beneficial or beneficial to our mission

Analyze & adapt to community needs Improve external community engagement 
and communication standards Develop key department standards Improve proactive external communication practices 2020 community survey; 

program/facility participant survey
Community survey every 5 years; annual 
program/facility survey Benchmark 2015 survey XX% Annual  improvement over baseline to 

increase score

Reinvest infrastructure Execute capital projects plan Capital project financial performance
Total capital replacement and capital development 
dollars spent and percentage of capital projects 
completed on budget

Incode Report annually at end of fiscal year Total capital projects: $XXX; under budget 
by $XXX FY20/21 Capital Projects budget: $XXX

Effectively align resources Reduce variance in actual budget Operating budget performance
Actual operating revenue and expenditures versus 
budgeted revenue and expenditures Incode Report annually at end of fiscal year x% variance Not to exceed +/‐ 10%

Alternate revenue grouth To capture alternate revenue oppportunities such as 
donations,grants, sponsorships Grants/donations/sponsorship report Report annually at end of fiscal year Develop a grant plan Apply for alternative revenue sources

Operating budget performance Maintain 50% Taxes/50% User Fees Incode/Post Audit Comparison Report Report annually at end of fiscal year X% tax revenues and X% other operational 
revenues

Maintain 50%/50%

Leverage technology to operate more effectively

Evaluate systems

Embed innovation Encourage vertical innovation Innovation Awards program
Total number of completed submissions for the 
innovation awards that are eligible for consideration 
based on meeting the innovation requirements

Submitted by staff to A‐team Annually XX submissions per year Increase XX per year

Strengthen learning/growing opportunities for Board/staff
Identify significant competencies and create 
training and development opportunities for 
staff/Board

Identify organizational/individual skill gaps, 
core competency needs, and provide 
training/development opportunities to reduce 
gaps in needed competencies

Provide more  training and options to improve core 
competencies

Core competency worksheet; Employee 
survey

Annually
Set competency standards in training 
matrix; develop key position growth plans; 
provide means to help employees to grow

Meet training matrix goals

Define agency  culture Sustain a positive and rewarding work 
environment

Employee satisfaction survey Overall satisfacton survey consist of both highly and 
satisfied team members

Employee survey Annually Satisfaction scores Annual  improvement over baseline to 
increase and/or maintain score

Foster an accountable work environment
Create internal communication and change 
management standard Develop key department standards  Maintain a consistent proactive approach to internal 

communication/change management
Employee survey Annually Satisfaction scores Annual  improvement over baseline to 

increase and/or maintain score

Reduce carbon footprint Reduce consumption Monitor utility/fuel usage Utilities monitored will be electricity, natural gas, 
propane, water, fuel Actual meter readings Annually Measure 2019 data benchmark Move to decrease utility usage by XXX

Evaluate standing water Improve conditions of areas with standing 
water

Determine sustainable solutions (native plantings 
versus infrastructure improvements)

GIS Inventory, staff, consultant, board Annually
Compile/prioritize areas with standing 
water

Evaluate and/or improve/fund XXX 
areas per year

Increase tree coverage Total tree inventory Number of healthy trees  Tree inventory Annually Update inventory Maintain healthy growth by XX% 
annually

Develop/fund environmental sustainability plan which includes 
education and partnership programs

Implement sustainability into community 
culture

Annual report to Board Improve practices/actions IPRA Environmental Report Card, Green 
Team

Annually
Create benchmarks for 
education/programs/events

Add XX new initiatives per year

Reduce barriers Improve access measures 

Create IT Master Plan Process improvements

Customer 
Connection

Financial 
Stewardship

Operational 
Effectiveness/ 
Efficiency

Convert existing processes to be more efficient and 
functional for internal and external customers 
(example: Registration, website, facility booking, 
document management, work order system. 

Consultant, staff, Board Annually Create benchmark Annual improvement over benchmark

Strengthen revenue sustainability Maintain overall captial financial 
sustainability

Preserve/protect natural resources

Environmental 
Sustainability/ 
Preservation

Empowered 
Team



SITE FURNISHINGS
OLD GREEN BAY LINEAR PARKS

02.11.2020

SOCIAL SPACE #1
ARC BENCH & PILLAR (CONCRETE)



02.11.2020

SITE FURNISHINGS
OLD GREEN BAY LINEAR PARKS

SOCIAL SPACE #2
.

Standard Finishes Available:
Standard SB (Sandblast) Finishes

Product Description:



SITE FURNISHINGS
OLD GREEN BAY LINEAR PARKS

02.11.2020

SOCIAL SPACE #3                                                     

Size: 96” x 24” x 18”.



02.11.2020

SITE FURNISHINGS
OLD GREEN BAY LINEAR PARKS

SOCIAL SPACE #4

Standard Finishes Available:
Standard SB (Sandblast) Finishes

Product Description:



SITE FURNISHINGS
OLD GREEN BAY LINEAR PARKS

02.11.2020

106 1/2"
2702

3"
76

16 1/4"
414 23 1/2"

598

INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN  PROFESSIONALS  SPECIFYING  LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. PRODUCTS AND 
THEIR DIRECT CLIENTS.  DRAWING IS NOT TO BE COPIED OR DISCLOSED TO  OTHERS  WITHOUT  THE  CONSENT 

www.landscapeforms.com      Ph: 800.521.2546

European Community Design RCD 000285622-0001

Product Drawing

Dimensions are in inches [mm]
Drawing:  TP210-01

Date:  2/3/2011

OF LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC.                                        © 2013 LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

CONFIDENTIAL DRAWING INFORMATION CONTAINED  HEREIN  IS  THE  PROPERTY  OF  LANDSCAPE  FORMS,  INC.  

Trapecio  Backed Bench 212in, Surface Mount, Wood

INCLUDED FOR
ANCHORING.

(8) 1/2-13 x 5-1/2" 
THREADED RODS 

GALVANIZED
STEEL SUPPORTS

212 1/4"
5388

6 3/4"
171

WOOD SEAT AND BACK

177"
4496

12"
306

4496
177"

892
35 1/4"

17 1/2"
442

AT GRADE MOUNT

GRADE
19 1/4"

490
674

26 1/2"

32"
814

BELOW GRADE MOUNT

GRADE

32"
814

TRAPECIO BENCH



02.11.2020

SITE FURNISHINGS
OLD GREEN BAY LINEAR PARKS

CHILL SEATING

Material: 
•  Rotationally molded polyethylene provides strong structure with integral color that 
stands up to heavy use and is easily cleaned.



IX. Action Item A
Approval of Glencoe Youth Services/SNAP

Stipend Request

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO: Board of Park Commissioners 
FROM: Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director 
SUBJECT: GYS/SNAP Annual Stipend 
DATE: February 11, 2020 
 
 
Action Item 
After discussion at the Committee of the Whole meeting, the Committee 
advanced approval of the Glencoe Youth Services (GYS) Stipend of $10,000 and 
SNAP Stipend of $1,000, with the requirement of providing the Glencoe Park 
District with a certificate of insurance as required by PDRMA. 
 
The approved amount is less than requested due to the high amount of in-service 
donations Glencoe Park District provides, such as the annual $1 building lease, snow 
removal, and up to $2,000 in facility repairs per year. The Board also discussed the 
need to replace the roof next year and that they may be willing to pay half the cost.  
Staff was directed to inform the GYS Board of this upcoming large expense. 



 

January 22, 2020 
 
 
Dear Board of Park Commissioners, 
 
Enclosed is the 2018-2019 annual report for Glencoe Youth Services (GYS). We are 
requesting $12,000 in funding for Glencoe Youth Services and $3,500 for Special Needs 
Adult Pals program from the Glencoe Park District for FY2019/20. In 2018-2019, GYS had 
over 300 individual youth visits. We credit the significant jump in attendance to new 
Executive Director William Barnard and his new creative programming at GYS. We 
continue to offer recreational drop in services with programs including gaming 
tournaments, crafts, cooking, trivia, and more.  
 

We are especially pleased with the engagement of our youth board, specifically their 
commitment to maturing in responsibilities and taking ownership of the center. We are 
extremely proud of the participation of our revamped Youth Leadership Board. Our youth 
board had taken on the great responsibility by developing a life skills course where once a 
month they utilize Central Middle School kitchen facilities to participate in cooking healthy 
meals.  
 
We launched our Youth Mental Health campaign titled “Fight Your Fears” where we’ve 
hosted youth stress relief workshops and events. Collaborated with Dog Therapy, Glencoe 
Ballroom Dance Studio, the Glencoe Public Library, and the Josselyn Mental Health 
Center. We anticipate to release a positive affirmation children’s book in 2020 that 
commemorates the youth mental health campaign. 
 
GYS is also extremely committed to service to others and giving back. In November, we 
launched Lunches of Hope. An initiative that brings the community together to pack bag 
lunches for the homeless in Chicago. We have held three successful events and it’s been 
a pleasure watching the youth take pride in writing encouraging messages on lunch bags 
or take pride in making sandwiches. The community has really supported this initiative. 
 
We are also particularly proud to host the Special Needs Adult Program (SNAP). SNAP 
continues to meet a large need within the local and greater community. In addition to 
programming, SNAP offers a free meal every week based on donations from local 
community members which has been a great way to get the community to engage with our 
organization. We have also fostered a large pool of teen volunteers, who come to the 
program each week and have now become passionate advocates for adults with 
disabilities.  
 
We would like to thank the park district for the significant and continuing support you have 
provided GYS and SNAP since our inception. The list of contributions the park district has 
made to GYS is long and varied from the provision of Holmes Shelter, the use of other 
park district properties, fundraising opportunities, and significant annual financial 
contributions. We are sincerely grateful for all the support, financial, and otherwise that the 
park district has provided to GYS and SNAP over the years.   
 
Thank you for your consideration of this request. Please feel free to contact me if you have 
any questions or require further information.  
 
Sincerely,  
William Barnard 
Executive Director  
Glencoe Youth Services 

  



 
 

Statistics Breakdown 
 

Glencoe Youth Services operates two separate programs: Glencoe Youth Services’ Youth Center and the 
Special Needs Adult Program. Both run independently, but both utilize the center for drop-in and other 
programming. 
 
Glencoe Youth Center Drop-In Hours: Mondays-Fridays 3-6pm and Saturdays 1-5pm. Drop-in hours will 
remain the same in addition to special programming. Glencoe Youth Services (GYS), founded in 1971, is a 
drop-in youth center providing recreational activities and social services opportunities for 6th -12th grade 
youth. Located in the Holmes Shelter, in between Central School and Melvin Berlin Park, GYS is open every 
day after school and on Saturdays during the day. The youth center provides a welcoming atmosphere 
where youth relax, talk with friends, and engage in their choice of many recreational activities, such as video 
games, crafts, board games, movies, and cooking. Our participants also engage in social services activities 
such as Operation Gratitude, A Just Harvest, and Cradles to Crayons. GYS is active at the 4th of July 
Festival, Harvest Fest, Movies on the Green and hosts many other community programs throughout the 
year. Over the course of the next year, we plan on continuing to provide a variety of programming such as 
video game tournaments, crafts, social service opportunities, and cooking classes. In addition, we are 
planning on hosting a GYS community music festival this year where all programming, campaigns will be on 
display in addition to highlighting the Glencoe community businesses and organizations. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

The Special Needs Adult Program (SNAP) Hours: Tuesdays 6pm-9pm Glencoe Youth Services hosts the 
SNAP program every Tuesday night. SNAP provides recreation, support, and advocacy for adults with a 
wide range of disabilities. Participants meet new people, develop friendships, engage in activities, attend 
educational presentations, go on outings, and enjoy any of the entertainment options that GYS offer, 
including computers, video games, board games, and TV. SNAP also provides a free dinner every week 
based on donations from the community. SNAP is requesting more operating funds for this year with plans 
on expanding to a second night every week targeted at young adults ranging from 17-25 years of age who 
are transitioning out of New Trier High School’s special education program. 

 
Hometown # of Participants  Current Residence # of Participants  
Glencoe 7 Glencoe 4 
Winnetka  2 Winnetka 2 
Northfield  2 Northfield 2 
Highland Park  2 Highland Park 4 
Glenview  1 Glenview 1 
Kenilworth 2 Kenilworth 1 
Northbrook  3 Northbrook 2 
Evanston  2 Evanston 9 
Skokie 3 Skokie 3 
Wilmette 6 Wilmette 2 
Other  4 Other 3 

 
 

 
 

Grade Male Female Total 
5th 36 23 59 
6th 37 29 66 
7th 36 35 71 
8th 33 24 57 
9th 16 6 22 

10th 4 3 7 
11th 5 4 9 
12th 4 7 11 

Total 171 131 302 



 
 

GLENCOE YOUTH SERVICES 
BUDGET OVERVIEW: GYS 2019/20 BUDGET (TC & SNAP) - FY20 P&L CLASSES 

July 2019 - June 2020 
 
 
 

Revenue

SNAP  TEEN CENTER   TOTAL 

5100 Grants   $0.00 
5110 New Trier Township 9,500.00 36,820.00 $46,320.00 
5120 Village of Glencoe 1,000.00 12,000.00 $13,000.00 
5130 Glencoe Park District 1,000.00 10,000.00 $11,000.00 

Total 5100 Grants 11,500.00 58,820.00 $70,320.00 

5200 Supporting Organizations - Religious   $0.00 
5240 North Shore Methodist  625.00 $625.00 

Total 5200 Supporting Organizations - Religious  625.00 $625.00 

5205 Rotary Club  500.00 $500.00 
5300 Supporting Organizations - Civic   $0.00 
5310 Women's Library Club  1,000.00 $1,000.00 

Total 5300 Supporting Organizations - Civic  1,000.00 $1,000.00 

5500 Corporate Contributions   $0.00 
5520 Other  100.00 $100.00 
Fidelity Donation  1,000.00 $1,000.00 

Total 5500 Corporate Contributions  1,100.00 $1,100.00 

5600 Outreach   $0.00 
5610 Mailing 1  3,000.00 $3,000.00 
5620 Mailing 2 1,400.00 6,500.00 $7,900.00 
5630 Annual Appeal 2,000.00  $2,000.00 
5640 Giving Tuesday  100.00 $100.00 

Total 5600 Outreach 3,400.00 9,600.00 $13,000.00 

5800 Fundraising Events   $0.00 
5830 Harvestfest  50.00 $50.00 
5840 Board Fundraiser   $0.00 

    5841 Teen Center Board Fundraiser   $0.00 
    Charitable Games Income  7,500.00 $7,500.00 
    Fundraiser  1,000.00 $1,000.00 
    Theatre Night  3,000.00 $3,000.00 

Total 5841 Teen Center Board Fundraiser  11,500.00 $11,500.00 

5842 YAP Board Fundraiser   $0.00 
     Charitable Games SNAP 2,000.00  $2,000.00 

Total 5842 YAP Board Fundraiser 2,000.00  $2,000.00 

Total 5840 Board Fundraiser 2,000.00 11,500.00 $13,500.00 

5850 Participant Fundraiser   $0.00 
5852 YAP Participant Fundraiser 500.00  $500.00 

Total 5850 Participant Fundraiser 500.00  $500.00 

5860 Other  200.00 $200.00 
Total 5800 Fundraising Events 2,500.00 11,750.00 $14,250.00 

5900 Other Income  500.00 $500.00 
5910 Interest Earned 4.00 400.00 $404.00 



 

 SNAP TEEN CENTER TOTAL 

Total Revenue $17,404.00 $84,295.00 $101,699.00 

GROSS PROFIT $17,404.00 $84,295.00 $101,699.00 

 Expenditures 
 6000 Payroll Expenditures 

   

 
$0.00 

6100 Employee Payroll 10,000.00 60,000.00 $70,000.00 
6200 Payroll Taxes 590.00 5,000.00 $5,590.00 
6300 Payroll Service 150.00 650.00 $800.00 
6500 Bookkeeper 600.00 2,300.00 $2,900.00 

Total 6000 Payroll Expenditures 11,340.00 67,950.00 $79,290.00 

7000 Operating Expenses   $0.00 
7100 Operations   $0.00 

     7120 Utilities 1,700.00 5,000.00 $6,700.00 
7130 Web Expenses  52.00 $52.00 

7140 Mailing Expenses 300.00 1,500.00 $1,800.00 
7150 Facilities and Equipment 100.00 250.00 $350.00 
7160 Office Supplies 200.00 300.00 $500.00 

Total 7100 Operations 2,300.00 7,102.00 $9,402.00 

 7200 Business Expenses   $0.00 
7210 Registration Fees  200.00 $200.00 
7220 Accounting  500.00 $500.00 
7230 Marketing  2,000.00 $2,000.00 

Total 7200 Business Expenses  2,700.00 $2,700.00 

 7300 Insurance Expense  2,650.00 $2,650.00 
Total 7000 Operating Expenses 2,300.00 12,452.00 $14,752.00 

  8000 Program Expenses   $0.00 
 8100 Teen Center Program Expenses  2,500.00 $2,500.00 
 8200 YAP Program Expenses 3,000.00  $3,000.00 

Total 8000 Program Expenses 3,000.00 2,500.00 $5,500.00 

  9500 Paypal Payment Fees  100.00 $100.00 
  Bank Service Charges 170.00 135.00 $305.00 
  Building Repair  200.00 $200.00 

Total Expenditures $16,810.00 $83,337.00 $100,147.00 

NET OPERATING REVENUE $594.00 $958.00 $1,552.00 

NET REVENUE $594.00 $958.00 $1,552.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GLENCOE YOUTH SERVICES 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE  30, 2019 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Glencoe Youth Services 
680 Greenwood Avenue 
Glencoe, IL 60022 

Accounting    Tax    CFO  Serv1ces 
 

I lHS Accounting  Solution I J .r; 
500 Skokie Boulevard, Suite 595 

Northbrook, IL 60062 
847.849.4811 
312.865.3126 

 
 
 
 
We have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of the Glencoe Youth Services as of June 30, 
2019, and the related statements of Support and revenue, functional expenses and changes in fund 
balances for the year then ended. We have not audited or reviewed the accompanying financial 
statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or provide any assurance about whether 
the financial statements are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements. 

 
Our responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
The objective of a compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information in the 
form of financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there 
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements. 

 
 
 
 
 

DHS  ACCOUNTING    SOLUTIONS   LLC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
August 28, 2019 



GLENCOE YOUTH SERVICES 
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND FUND BALANCES 

JUNE 30, 2019 
 

ASSETS AMOUNT 

 
CASH- GYS 

 
$ 84,429 

CASH- YAP 16,052 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 5,978 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 106,458 
 
 
 
 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE  

 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 
$ 7,303 

 
FUND BALANCE 

 
99,155 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND  FUND BALANCE   $ 106,458   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See Accountant's Compilation Report 



GLENCOE YOUTH SERVICES STATEMENT OF SUPPORT AND REVENUE, 
FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2019 
 
 

SUPPORT AND REVENUE' TEEN CENTER YAP TOTAL 
GYS 

 
Support: 
New Trier Township 

 
 

3S,001 

 
 

9,000 

 
 
$ 44,001 

 
Other support organizations 

 
21,000 

 
2,000 

 
23,000 

 
Individual and corporate contributions 

 
10,534 

 
2,724 

 
13,258 

Total Support 66,535 13,724 80,259 

 
Revenue: 
Fundraising events 

 
 

12,522 

 
 

1,928 

 
 

14,450 

Total support and revenue 79,057 15,652 $ 94,709 
 

FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES' 
 

Salaries 53,945 7,777 61,722 
Payroll taxes 4,278 581 4,859 
Employee Benefits 181 so 231 
Rent and utilities 4,678 1,694 6,372 
Marketing 2,131  2,131 
Program costs 1,890 2,728 4,618 
Fundraising Costs 373  373 
Insurance 2,649  2,649 
Office  supplies 1,439 234 1,673 
Accounting 2,692 548 3,240 
Miscellaneous 2,607 684 3,291 

Total functional expenses 76,863 14,296 91,159 
 

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 2,194 1,356
 3,550 

 
 

FUND BALANCE- Beginning
 9

5,605 
of year 

 
 

FUND BALANCE- End of year $
 99,155 

 
 

See Accountant's Compilation Report 
 



IX. Action Item B
Approval of Glencoe Jr. High Project

Stipend Request

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO: Board of Park Commissioners 
FROM: Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director 
SUBJECT: GJHP Annual Stipend 
DATE: February 11, 2020 
 
 
Action Item 
After discussion at the Committee of the Whole meeting, the Committee 
advanced approval of the Glencoe Jr. High Project (GJHP) Stipend of $10,000, 
with the requirement of providing the Glencoe Park District with a certificate of 
insurance as required by PDRMA. 











Glencoe Junior High Project
FY2019/20 Budget

Account

Contributions, Grants & Fundraising Income Expense
Business Donations (incl. Community) 2,000.00
Individual/Family Donations 18,000.00

Patron Letter (950.00)
Total Contributions 20,000.00 (950.00)

Village of Glencoe 10,000.00
Glencoe Park District 10,000.00
New Trier Township 20,000.00 (100.00)

Total Grants 40,000.00 (100.00)
Other Fundraising Income 1,000.00
Wine Event 1,600.00

48100 Fundraising Income (550.00)
Wine Event (200.00)

Total Fundraising 2,600.00 (750.00)
Total Contributions, Grants & Fundraising 62,600.00 (1,800.00)

Annual Musical / Play Income Expense
43100 Play Participation Fees

Cast Fees 19,440.00 (540.00)
Crew Fees 3,000.00 (150.00)

22,440.00 (690.00)
003 Full Page Ads 7,000.00
004 Half Page Business Ads 10,000.00
005 Qtr Page Business Ads 8,000.00
Business Ad Discounts (1,500.00)

25,000.00 (1,500.00)
006 Full Pg Tribute 3,000.00
007 Half Pg Tribute 2,500.00
008 Qtr Page Tribute 715.00

6,215.00
Play Book (3,400.00)

(3,400.00)
48100 Regular Priced Tickets 17,000.00
Ticket Expense (incl. CC fees) (800.00)

17,000.00 (800.00)
Concessions/Refreshments 2,400.00

Play Concessions Expense (1,250.00)
Snack Attack 3,000.00

Snack Attack (1,000.00)
5,400.00 (2,250.00)

43500 Play Restricted Contributions

Discretionary Tips (500.00)
Play Asst Director (500.00)
Play Choreographer (1,650.00)
Play Director (10,000.00)
Play Music Director (6,000.00)
Play Musicians (1,500.00)
Play Set Designer (2,700.00)
Play Sound and Lights (6,558.00)

Total Professional Staff Fees (29,408.00)

Budget



Glencoe Junior High Project
FY2019/20 Budget

Cast/Crew Meals (500.00)
Costumes (1,700.00)
Lights (3,352.00)
Misc. Play Expenses (200.00)
Play Infrastructure (100.00)
Play Marketing (300.00)
Props (300.00)
Scripts (3,500.00)
Set Material/Scenery (1,500.00)
Sound (2,000.00)
T Shirts (600.00)

(14,052.00)
Total Annual Musical / Play 76,055.00 (52,100.00)

Performing Arts Income Expense
Theatre FUNdamentals 2,000.00
Theater FUNdamentals director fee (1,350.00)

2,000.00 (1,350.00)
Theater Thursdays 800.00
Theater Thursdays director fee (1,400.00)

800.00 (1,400.00)
44100 Variety Show Income

Variety Show Cast Fees 5,000.00
Other Variety Show Income 100.00
Other Variety Show Expenses (550.00)
Variety Show Producer Fees (2,500.00)

5,100.00 (3,050.00)
8th Grade Project Cast Fees 3,000.00
8th Grade Play Income Other 100.00 (50.00)
8th Grade Project Producer Fees (2,000.00)
Other 8th Grade Project Expenses (500.00)

3,100.00 (2,550.00)
Total Performing Arts 11,000.00 (8,350.00)

Civic Enagement Income Expense
Book Buddies 1,500.00 (120.00)

67200 Civic Engagement Expenses (1,710.00)
SNAP Dinner (500.00)

Total Social & Oasis Expense 1,500.00 (2,330.00)



Glencoe Junior High Project
FY2019/20 Budget

Social and Oasis
5th Grade Amazing Race Income 1,000.00
5th Grade Amazing Race Expenses (1,000.00)
6th Grade Dance 1,500.00
6th Grade Dance Expenses (1,500.00)
Back to School BBQ 1,500.00
Back to School BBQ Expenses (1,700.00)
Beach Bash 2,000.00
Beach Bash Expenses (1,800.00)
Halloween Hoopla 1,500.00
Halloween Hoopla Expenses (1,500.00)
Teen Skate 1,000.00
Teen Skate Expenses (200.00)

45200 Social Activities 1,500.00 (1,500.00)
Other Social Activity Expenses (250.00)

10,000.00 (9,450.00)
73999 Oasis Expense (700.00)

(700.00)
Total Civiv, Social & Oasis Expense 11,500.00 (12,480.00)

Operating Other General and Administration Income Expense
Change in Market Value of Investments 3,000.00
Interest Income 2,250.00

5,250.00
60110 Staff Wages (55,733.33)
60120 Non taxable benefits (qualified commuting, health reimbursements) (4,000.00)

60131 EE Tax Withholding (3,700.00)
60132 ER Tax Withholding (350.00)

60130 Payroll Taxes (6,000.00)
(69,783.33)

Technology Infrastructure (750.00)
70100 Office/Business Expenses (800.00)
71000 Supplies (100.00)
72000 Postage and Printing (400.00)
73000 Marketing/Community Outreach (600.00)
74000 Insurance Liability, D and O, Workers Comp (12,000.00)
75000 Technology and Website (1,200.00)
76100 Facilities and Janitorial Fees (3,000.00)
Audit and Reporting (3,600.00)
PayPal Fees (1,700.00)
Payroll Service (1,000.00)
Square Fees (50.00)
Teachers Reception (900.00)

Depreciation Expense (496.00)
(26,596.00)

In Kind Revenue Auditorium 31,978.00
In Kind Expense Auditorium (31,978.00)
In Kind Revenue Oasis 41,800.00
In Kind Expense Oasis (41,800.00)

73,778.00 (73,778.00)
Total Operating General and Administration 79,028.00 (170,157.33)

Full Budget 240,183.00 (244,887.33)



 
 

GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, 
ILLINOIS 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED                  

JUNE 30, 2018 



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

 

PAGE 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ............................................................................................. 1 - 2 
 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 Statement of Financial Position ................................................................................................................. 3 
 Statement of Activities ........................................................................................................................ 4 - 5 
 Statement of Cash Flows ........................................................................................................................... 6 
 Statement of Functional Expenses – For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 ....................................... 7 
 Statement of Functional Expenses – For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017 ....................................... 8 
 Notes to the Financial Statements ..................................................................................................... 9 - 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
FINANCIAL SECTION 

  



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
  





Glencoe Junior High Project, Illinois 
December 7, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
We did not audit the financial Statements of the Glencoe Junior High Project as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2017. Those Statements were audited by another auditor who issued an unmodified opinion on 
January 30, 2018. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Glencoe Junior High Project, Illinois’ basic financial statements.  
 
 

 
LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS

Statement of Financial Position
June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017

2017

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 80,750 82,319
Investments 146,051 143,741
Unconditional Promises to Give 20,833 20,833
Receivables - Net of Allowances

Accounts 7,014 -      
Prepaids 1,870 1,534

Total Current Assets 256,518 248,427

Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets

Depreciable 1,820 1,820
Accumulated Depreciation (710) (414)

Total Noncurrent Assets 1,110 1,406

Total Assets 257,628 249,833

Accounts Payable 405 536

Without Donor Restrictions  257,223 249,297

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 257,628 249,833

2018

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS

Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
(with Comparative Actuals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017)

With Donor
Restrictions Totals

Revenues and Other Support
Contributions $ 16,005 -      16,005
Government Grants 40,001 -      40,001
Play Participation Fees 26,026 -      26,026
Playbook Ads and Tributes 29,217 -      29,217
Play Ticket Sales 15,621 5,000 20,621
Theatre Workshops Revenues 18,071 -      18,071
Social Activities and Civic Program Revenues 12,289 -      12,289
Merchandise Sales 6,913 -      6,913
Other Fundraising Income 3,078 3,078
Investment Income 2,288 -      2,288
Miscellaneous 1,026 -      1,026
In Kind Revenue 73,778 -      73,778
Net Assets Released from Restrictions -      -      -      

Total Revenues and Other Support 244,313 5,000 249,313

Expenses
Programs Services 216,211 5,000 221,211
Supporting Services

Management and General 18,854 -      18,854
Fundraising 1,322 -      1,322

Total Expenses 236,387 5,000 241,387

Change in Net Assets 7,926 -      7,926

Net Assets - Beginning 249,297 -      249,297

Net Assets - Ending 257,223 -      257,223

2018

Without Donor
Restrictions

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement



Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Totals

20,666 -      20,666
40,001 -      40,001
27,268 -      27,268
26,546 -      26,546
20,867 -      20,867
13,375 -      13,375
20,911 -      20,911
4,566 -      4,566

-      
5,466 -      5,466
4,604 -      4,604

-      
9,168 (9,168) -      

193,438 (9,168) 184,270

159,260 -      159,260

17,383 -      17,383
906 -      906

177,549 -      177,549

15,889 (9,168) 6,721

233,408 9,168 242,576

249,297 -      249,297

2017

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
(with Comparative Actuals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017)

2017

Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Purchase of Capital Assets $ -      (1,480)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of Investments (2,310) (5,383)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets 7,926 6,721
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets
to Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities:

Depreciation Expense 296 74
(Increase) Decrease in Assets (7,350) (219)
Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities (131) (2,221)

741 4,355

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,569) (2,508)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 82,319 84,827

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 80,750 82,319

2018

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS

Statement of Functional Expenses 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

Management
and General Fundraising Totals

Compensation $ 55,586 -    -    55,586
Employee Benefits 5,244 -    -    5,244
Payroll Taxes 4,247 -    -    4,247
Play Expenses 22,012 -    -    22,012
Theatre Workshops Expenses 14,733 -    -    14,733
Social Activities and Civic Program Expenses 9,809 -    -    9,809
Professional Fees and Contract Services 28,955 5,198 -    34,153
Supplies/Oasis Expenses 3,249 -    -    3,249
Special Projects Expenses 1,099 -    -    1,099
Postage and Printing 61 -    -    61
Marketing and Community Outreach 1,642 -    -    1,642
Insurance -    11,018 -    11,018
Technology and Website -    1,016 -    1,016
Facilities Fees 500 -    -    500
Contributed Facilities - In Kind 73,778 -    -    73,778
Fundraising Expenses -    -    1,322 1,322
Bank and Credit Card Fees -    2,009 -    2,009
Miscellaneous -    (387) -    (387)
Depreciation 296 -    -    296

Total Functional Expenses 221,211 18,854 1,322 241,387

Program 
Services

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS

Statement of Functional Expenses 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017

Management
and General Fundraising Totals

Compensation $ 60,979 -    -    60,979
Employee Benefits 5,178 -    -    5,178
Payroll Taxes 3,403 -    -    3,403
Play Expenses 21,880 -    -    21,880
Theatre Workshops Expenses 11,557 -    -    11,557
Social Activities and Civic Program Expenses 17,630 -    -    17,630
Professional Fees and Contract Services 28,547 3,801 -    32,348
Supplies 782 -    -    782
Special Projects Expenses 1,261 -    -    1,261
Postage and Printing 375 -    -    375
Marketing and Community Outreach 4,058 -    -    4,058
Insurance -    11,565 -    11,565
Technology and Website -    169 -    169
Facilities Fees 536 -    -    536
Contributed Facilities 3,000 -    -    3,000
Fundraising Expenses -    -    906 906
Bank and Credit Card Fees -    1,774 -    1,774
Miscellaneous -    74 -    74
Depreciation 74 -    -    74

Total Functional Expenses 159,260 17,383 906 177,549

Program 
Services

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018  
 
 
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ORGANIZATION 
 
The Glencoe Junior High Project (GJHP) is a 501(c)(3) Illinois non-profit organization that provides 
opportunities for Glencoe, Illinois middle school students to engage with the community for the purpose 
of fostering so socially aware, civic-minded and community-oriented individuals. GJHP offers various 
programs and activities, including the Oasis Youth Center which serves as a meeting place for students, 
grades 5th-8th, to drop in during their lunch-recess period. In addition, GJHP’s Civic Engagement 
Program offers Glencoe middle school students the opportunity to engage with local community 
members and their organizations for the purposes of building social awareness and civic mindedness. 
Glencoe Junior High Project plans and sponsors a variety of social events for Glencoe middle school 
students and their families including dances, parties and events to promote community and civic 
engagement. Also, GJHP’s Performing Arts Program supports several theatrical productions a year for 
the purposes of building community through the arts. 
 
The Glencoe Junior High Project is run by a volunteer board and two full-time Youth Directors. GJHP’s 
programs and staff are funded by community donations, government grants, program fees and net 
revenues generated by the theatrical productions. 
 
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in which revenue is 
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. 
 
Net Assets 
 
Net assets of the GJHP and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 
 

Net assets without donor restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of 
the organization. These net assets may be used at the discretion of the GJHP’s 
management and the board of directors. 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions – Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors 
and grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be 
met by actions of the GJHP or by the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are 
perpetual in nature, where by the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in 
perpetuity.  
 
Donor restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor 
restrictions. When a restriction expires, net assets are reclassified from net assets with 
donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions in the Statement of Activities.  
 



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018  
 
 
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 
Cash and Investments 
 
For the purpose of the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows, the GJHP’s cash 
and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments 
with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. 
 
Investments are generally reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which 
approximates fair value. For investments, the GJHP categorizes its fair value measurements within the 
fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on 
the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are 
significant unobservable inputs. The GJHP has no investments at year-end. 
 
Investment Income 
 
The GJHP records investment income earned on net assets without donor restrictions revenue. 
 
Promises to Give 
 
Promises to give consist of unconditional promised to give to the GJHP. The carrying amount of 
promises to give may be recorded by a valuation allowance based on management’s assessment of the 
collectability of specific promise to give balances. 
 
Income Taxes  
 
The GJHP is exempt from income tax under IRC section 501(c)(3), and similarly, is exempt from State 
of Illinois taxes under the Illinois Tax Act Section 205(a), though it is subject to tax on income unrelated 
to its exempt purpose, unless that income is otherwise excluded by the Code. The GJHP has processes 
presently in place to ensure the maintenance of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report unrelated 
income; to determine its filing and tax obligations in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; and to identify 
and evaluate other matters that may be considered tax positions. The GJHP has determined that there are 
no material uncertain tax positions that require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 
There was no unrelated business income for the year ended December 31, 2017.  
 
The GJHP’s Forms 990, Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax, are subject to examination by 
the IRS, generally, for three years after they were filed. Annual filings with the State of Illinois are, 
similarly, subject to examination.  
 
 
 



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018  
 
 
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Functional Allocation of Expenses 
 
The costs of providing the various programs and supporting services have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the schedules of functional expenses. Functional expenses which are not directly 
attributable to one function are allocated between program, management and general, and fundraising 
services based on the number of employees involved, the amount of time spent, the percentage of their 
salary associated with the time and on estimated made by the GJHP’s management. 
 
NOTE 3 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At year-end the carrying amount of the GJHP’s cash deposits totaled $80,750 and the bank balances 
totaled $80,948. The entire balance of deposits was fully insured by federal deposit insurance.  
 
In addition to the above, the GJHP had $146,051 and $143,741 invested in mutual funds as of June 30, 
2018 and June 30, 2017, respectively. The fair value of these assets is based on quoted market prices in 
active markets for identical assets. 
 
NOTE 4 – AVAILABILITY AND LIQUIDITY 
 
The following represents GJHP’s financial assets at June 30, 2018: 
 

Financial Assets at Year End:
Cash and Investments $ 226,801
Unconditional Promises to Give 20,833
Accounts Receivables 7,014

Total Financial Assets 254,648

Less Amounts not Available to be used within one year:
Net Assets with Donor Restrictions -       

Financial Assets Available to Meet General Expenditures
     over the Next Twelve Months 254,648

 
 
The GJHP’s goal is generally to maintain financial assets to meet 90 days of operating expenses. As part 
of its liquidity plan, excess cash is invested in short-term investments, including money market 
accounts.



GLENCOE JUNIOR HIGH PROJECT, ILLINOIS 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
June 30, 2018  
 
 
NOTE 5 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $500, or more are reported at historical cost 
or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at acquisition value as of the date received. 
Contributed assets with explicit restrictions regarding their use and contributions of cash that must be 
used to acquire property and equipment are reported as restricted support. Property and equipment are 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the useful lives, with a five-year life for equipment. 
Depreciation expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $296 and $74, respectively. 
 
NOTE 6 – NET ASSETS 
 
Without Donor Restrictions 
 
Net Assets without donor restrictions as of June 30, 2018 was comprised of the following: 
 

Undesignated $ 257,223
 

 
NOTE 7 – IN-KIND DONATIONS  
 
Donated Facilities – The GJHP was allowed to use facilities at no charge to the GJHP during the year 
ended June 30, 2018. Accordingly, contributions have been recorded for the fair value of the facilities of 
the Oasis Room of $41,800 and the auditorium of $31,978 for the year ending June 30, 2018. These 
amounts have been included as special events revenue and special events expense on the Statements of 
Activities. In fiscal year 2017 there were no in-kind donations recorded. 



IX. Action Item C
Approval of Contract with

Christopher B. Burke Engineering

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   Board of Commissioners   
FROM:  Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director, Chris Leiner Director of Parks & 

Maintenance 
SUBJECT:  Approval of Contract with Christopher B. Burke Engineering 
DATE:  February 4, 2020 
 
 
As previously discussed in the December 3, 2019 Committee of the Whole meeting, the 
Glencoe Park District must engage in a process to make the Connect Glencoe Trail 
project compliant with IDOT standards. To receive the $667,500 in grant funding, the 
Park District must develop and execute the project according to IDOT standards. IDOT 
standards are beyond the general scope of typical park renovation projects. As part of 
this process, the Park District must retain an IDOT Certified Engineering Firm to 
oversee the construction of the project. 
 
On typical park renovation projects, the landscape architects visit the job site weekly 
and engineering professional’s visit three to four times before completion. IDOT requires 
that an engineer is onsite to record the activities and progress of the contractor daily. 
This higher level of oversight is a requirement of federal funding and is a transparency 
and accountability measure. This is referred to as a resident engineer. 
              
At the execution of this agreement, Christopher B. Burke Engineering (CBELL) will 
become the lead construction engineering firm with Altamanu acting as a sub-contractor 
for the scope of this agreement as it relates to providing oversight of the design of the 
trail. Altamanu will remain the primary design firm for the construction of Duke 
Playground. Based on the IDOT policy, CBELL must be the principal firm for the trail as 
they hold pre-approved status.  
 
This contract will supersede the previous agreement with Altamanu approved by the 
Board of Park Commissioners on April 16, 2019, as it relates to providing construction 
management support for trail construction. CBELL has estimated a cost of $80,045 to 
complete the necessary management of the project. Work above and beyond the 
estimated scope will be billed at the hourly rate provided in the agreement. 
 
The cost of this contract was included in the estimates provided to the Board at the 
December 3, 2019 Committee of the Whole meeting. 

 
Recommended Motion: 
Approval of the Christopher B. Burke Engineering contract for the amount of $80,045 for 
the construction management of the Connect Glencoe Trail Project.  











Glencoe Park District
Old Green Bay Road Multi-Use Path
Construction Engineering Services

Engineering Fee Estimate

Engineer Engineer Engineer Engineer Total Fee
Description V IV III I/II Hours $

208 170 152 121
1 Preconstruction 2 20 22 $2,836

2 Construction Observation/Documentation 2 384 386 $46,880

3 Record Drawings 8 8 $968

4 Post Construction 2 80 82 $10,096

5 Material Testing (MSL) $5,990

6 Landscape Architeture Fees (Altamanu) $10,350

Direct Costs (Vehicle - 45 Working Days) $2,925

6 0 0 492 498 $80,045

Total Not-to-Exceed Fee = $80,045

Key Personnel Classification Project Role
Kevin Wilson, PE ENG V Project Manager
Owen Wattelle ENG I/II Resident Engineer

* Cost based upon a Summer 2020 Start and 45 Working Days (equivalent 2.8 Calendar Months) including punch list.
* 40 hours / week estimated workload.

TOTAL

Classification and Hourly Rate

Task

N:\PROPOSALS\ADMIN\2020\Glencoe Park Dist Old Green Bay Rd Phase III Services P200014\PhIII Agreement\Fee Proposal_2020 OldGreenBayRd_MUP.xlsx



CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD.
STANDARD CHARGES FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

JANUARY, 2020
Charges*

Personnel ($/Hr)
Principal 275
Engineer VI 251
Engineer V 208
Engineer IV 170
Engineer III 152
Engineer I/II 121
Survey V 229
Survey IV 196
Survey III 172
Survey II 126
Survey I 100
Engineering Technician V 198
Engineering Technician IV 161
Engineering Technician III 146
Engineering Technician I/II                                                                                         68
CAD Manager 177
Assistant CAD Manager 153
CAD II 135
GIS Specialist III 148
GIS Specialist I/II 94
Landscape Architect 170
Environmental Resource Specialist V 216
Environmental Resource Specialist IV 170
Environmental Resource Specialist III 139
Environmental Resource Specialist I/II 94
Environmental Resource Technician 114
Administrative 104
Engineering Intern 63
Information Technician III 130
Information Technician I/II 116

Direct Costs
Outside Copies, Blueprints, Messenger, Delivery Services, Mileage Cost + 12%

*Charges include overhead and profit

Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. reserves the right to increase these rates and costs by 5% 
after December 31, 2020.



CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD. 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 1

1. Relationship Between Engineer and Client:  Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. 
(Engineer) shall serve as Client's professional engineer consultant in those phases of 
the Project to which this Agreement applies.  This relationship is that of a buyer and 
seller of professional services and as such the Engineer is an independent contractor in 
the performance of this Agreement and it is understood that the parties have not entered 
into any joint venture or partnership with the other.  The Engineer shall not be 
considered to be the agent of the Client. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
create a contractual relationship with a cause of action in favor of a third party against 
either the Client or Engineer. 

Furthermore, causes of action between the parties to this Agreement pertaining to acts 
of failures to act shall be deemed to have accrued and the applicable statute of 
limitations shall commence to run not later than the date of substantial completion. 

2. Responsibility of the Engineer:  Engineer will strive to perform services under this 
Agreement in accordance with generally accepted and currently recognized engineering 
practices and principles, and in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill 
ordinarily exercised by members of the profession currently practicing in the same 
locality under similar conditions.  No other representation, express or implied, and no 
warranty or guarantee is included or intended in this Agreement, or in any report, 
opinion, document, or otherwise. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary which may be contained in this Agreement or 
any other material incorporated herein by reference, or in any Agreement between the 
Client and any other party concerning the Project, the Engineer shall not have control or 
be in charge of and shall not be responsible for the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences or procedures of construction, or the safety, safety precautions or programs 
of the Client, the construction contractor, other contractors or subcontractors performing 
any of the work or providing any of the services on the Project.  Nor shall the Engineer 
be responsible for the acts or omissions of the Client, or for the failure of the Client, any 
architect, engineer, consultant, contractor or subcontractor to carry out their respective 
responsibilities in accordance with the Project documents, this Agreement or any other 
agreement concerning the Project.  Any provision which purports to amend this provision 
shall be without effect unless it contains a reference that the content of this condition is 
expressly amended for the purposes described in such amendment and is signed by the 
Engineer.

3. Changes:  Client reserves the right by written change order or amendment to make 
changes in requirements, amount of work, or engineering time schedule adjustments, 
and Engineer and Client shall negotiate appropriate adjustments acceptable to both 
parties to accommodate any changes, if commercially possible. 

4. Suspension of Services:  Client may, at any time, by written order to Engineer 
(Suspension of Services Order) require Engineer to stop all, or any part, of the services 
required by this Agreement.  Upon receipt of such an order, Engineer shall immediately 
comply with its terms and take all reasonable steps to minimize the costs associated 
with the services affected by such order.  Client, however, shall pay all costs incurred by 
the suspension, including all costs necessary to maintain continuity and for the 



 

 2

resumptions of the services upon expiration of the Suspension of Services Order.  
Engineer will not be obligated to provide the same personnel employed prior to 
suspension, when the services are resumed, in the event that the period of suspension 
is greater than thirty (30) days.    

5. Termination:  This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon thirty (30) days 
written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in 
accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating party.  This 
Agreement may be terminated by Client, under the same terms, whenever Client shall 
determine that termination is in its best interests.  Cost of termination, including salaries, 
overhead and fee, incurred by Engineer either before or after the termination date shall 
be reimbursed by Client. 

6. Documents Delivered to Client:  Drawings, specifications, reports, and any other Project 
Documents prepared by Engineer in connection with any or all of the services furnished 
hereunder shall be delivered to the Client for the use of the Client.  Engineer shall have 
the right to retain originals of all Project Documents and drawings for its files.  
Furthermore, it is understood and agreed that the Project Documents such as, but not 
limited to reports, calculations, drawings, and specifications prepared for the Project, 
whether in hard copy or machine readable form, are instruments of professional service 
intended for one-time use in the construction of this Project.  These Project Documents 
are and shall remain the property of the Engineer.  The Client may retain copies, 
including copies stored on magnetic tape or disk, for information and reference in 
connection with the occupancy and use of the Project. 

When and if record drawings are to be provided by the Engineer, Client understands that 
information used in the preparation of record drawings is provided by others and 
Engineer is not responsible for accuracy, completeness, nor sufficiency of such 
information.  Client also understands that the level of detail illustrated by record 
drawings will generally be the same as the level of detail illustrated by the design 
drawing used for project construction.  If additional detail is requested by the Client to be 
included on the record drawings, then the Client understands and agrees that the 
Engineer will be due additional compensation for additional services.

It is also understood and agreed that because of the possibility that information and data 
delivered in machine readable form may be altered, whether inadvertently or otherwise, 
the Engineer reserves the right to retain the original tapes/disks and to remove from 
copies provided to the Client all identification reflecting the involvement of the Engineer 
in their preparation.  The Engineer also reserves the right to retain hard copy originals of 
all Project Documentation delivered to the Client in machine readable form, which 
originals shall be referred to and shall govern in the event of any inconsistency between 
the two. 

The Client understands that the automated conversion of information and data from the 
system and format used by the Engineer to an alternate system or format cannot be 
accomplished without the introduction of inexactitudes, anomalies, and errors.  In the 
event Project Documentation provided to the Client in machine readable form is so 
converted, the Client agrees to assume all risks associated therewith and, to the fullest 



 

 3

extent permitted by law, to hold harmless and indemnify the Engineer from and against 
all claims, liabilities, losses, damages, and costs, including but not limited to attorney's 
fees, arising therefrom or in connection therewith. 

The Client recognizes that changes or modifications to the Engineer's instruments of 
professional service introduced by anyone other than the Engineer may result in adverse 
consequences which the Engineer can neither predict nor control.  Therefore, and in 
consideration of the Engineer's agreement to deliver its instruments of professional 
service in machine readable form, the Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, to hold harmless and indemnify the Engineer from and against all claims, liabilities, 
losses, damages, and costs, including but not limited to attorney's fees, arising out of or 
in any way connected with the modification, misinterpretation, misuse, or reuse by 
others of the machine readable information and data provided by the Engineer under 
this Agreement.  The foregoing indemnification applies, without limitation, to any use of 
the Project Documentation on other projects, for additions to this Project, or for 
completion of this Project by others, excepting only such use as may be authorized, in 
writing, by the Engineer. 

7. Reuse of Documents:  All Project Documents including but not limited to reports, 
opinions of probable costs, drawings and specifications furnished by Engineer pursuant 
to this Agreement are intended for use on the Project only.  They cannot be used by 
Client or others on extensions of the Project or any other project.  Any reuse, without 
specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer, shall be at Client's sole risk, and 
Client shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from all claims, damages, losses, and 
expenses including attorney's fees arising out of or resulting therefrom. 

The Engineer shall have the right to include representations of the design of the Project, 
including photographs of the exterior and interior, among the Engineer's promotional and 
professional materials. The Engineer's materials shall not include the Client's 
confidential and proprietary information if the Client has previously advised the Engineer 
in writing of the specific information considered by the Client to be confidential and 
proprietary. 

8. Standard of Practice:  The Engineer will strive to conduct services under this agreement 
in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members 
of the profession currently practicing in the same locality under similar conditions as of 
the date of this Agreement. 

9. Compliance With Laws:  The Engineer will strive to exercise usual and customary 
professional care in his/her efforts to comply with those laws, codes, ordinance and 
regulations which are in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

  With specific respect to prescribed requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 or certified state or local accessibility regulations (ADA), Client understands ADA is 
a civil rights legislation and that interpretation of ADA is a legal issue and not a design 
issue and, accordingly, retention of legal counsel (by Client) for purposes of 
interpretation is advisable.  As such and with respect to ADA, Client agrees to waive any 
action against Engineer, and to indemnify and defend Engineer against any claim arising 
from Engineer's alleged failure to meet ADA requirements prescribed. 



 

4

Further to the law and code compliance, the Client understands that the Engineer will 
strive to provide designs in accordance with the prevailing Standards of Practice as 
previously set forth, but that the Engineer does not warrant that any reviewing agency 
having jurisdiction will not for its own purposes comment, request changes and/or 
additions to such designs. In the event such design requests are made by a reviewing 
agency, but which do not exist in the form of a written regulation, ordinance or other 
similar document as published by the reviewing agency, then such design changes (at 
substantial variance from the intended design developed by the Engineer), if effected 
and incorporated into the project documents by the Engineer, shall be considered as 
Supplementary Task(s) to the Engineer's Scope of Service and compensated for 
accordingly. 

10. Indemnification:  Engineer shall indemnify and hold harmless Client up to the amount of 
this contract fee (for services) from loss or expense, including reasonable attorney's fees 
for claims for personal injury (including death) or property damage to the extent caused 
by the sole negligent act, error or omission of Engineer. 

Client shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer under this Agreement, from loss or 
expense, including reasonable attorney's fees, for claims for personal injuries (including 
death) or property damage arising out of the sole negligent act, error omission of Client. 

In the event of joint or concurrent negligence of Engineer and Client, each shall bear that 
portion of the loss or expense that its share of the joint or concurrent negligence bears to 
the total negligence (including that of third parties), which caused the personal injury or 
property damage. 

Engineer shall not be liable for special, incidental or consequential damages, including, 
but not limited to loss of profits, revenue, use of capital, claims of customers, cost of 
purchased or replacement power, or for any other loss of any nature, whether based on 
contract, tort, negligence, strict liability or otherwise, by reasons of the services rendered 
under this Agreement. 

11. Opinions of Probable Cost:  Since Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, 
materials or equipment, or over the Contractor(s) method of determining process, or 
over competitive bidding or market conditions, his/her opinions of probable Project 
Construction Cost provided for herein are to be made on the basis of his/her experience 
and qualifications and represent his/her judgement as a design professional familiar with 
the construction industry, but Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposal, 
bids or the Construction Cost will not vary from opinions of probable construction cost 
prepared by him/her.  If prior to the Bidding or Negotiating Phase, Client wishes greater 
accuracy as to the Construction Cost, the Client shall employ an independent cost 
estimator Consultant for the purpose of obtaining a second construction cost opinion 
independent from Engineer. 

12. Governing Law & Dispute Resolutions:  This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with Articles previously set forth by (Item 9 of) this Agreement, 
together with the laws of the State of Illinois.



 

5

Any claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this Agreement, 
which can not be mutually resolved by the parties of this Agreement, shall be subject to 
mediation as a condition precedent to arbitration (if arbitration is agreed upon by the 
parties of this Agreement) or the institution of legal or equitable proceedings by either 
party. If such matter relates to or is the subject of a lien arising out of the Engineer's 
services, the Engineer may proceed in accordance with applicable law to comply with 
the lien notice or filing deadlines prior to resolution of the matter by mediation or by 
arbitration.

The Client and Engineer shall endeavor to resolve claims, disputes and other matters in 
question between them by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, 
shall be in accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American 
Arbitration Association currently in effect. Requests for mediation shall be filed in writing 
with the other party to this Agreement and with the American Arbitration Association. 
The request may be made concurrently with the filing of a demand for arbitration but, in 
such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of arbitration or legal or equitable 
proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days from the 
date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court 
order.

The parties shall share the mediator's fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation 
shall be held in the place where the Project is located, unless another location is 
mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall be enforceable as 
settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  

13. Successors and Assigns:  The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns:  provided, 
however, that neither party shall assign this Agreement in whole or in part without the 
prior written approval of the other. 

14. Waiver of Contract Breach:  The waiver of one party of any breach of this Agreement or 
the failure of one party to enforce at any time, or for any period of time, any of the 
provisions hereof, shall be limited to the particular instance, shall not operate or be 
deemed to waive any future breaches of this Agreement and shall not be construed to 
be a waiver of any provision, except for the particular instance. 

15. Entire Understanding of Agreement:  This Agreement represents and incorporates the 
entire understanding of the parties hereto, and each party acknowledges that there are 
no warranties, representations, covenants or understandings of any kind, matter or 
description whatsoever, made by either party to the other except as expressly set forth 
herein.  Client and the Engineer hereby agree that any purchase orders, invoices, 
confirmations, acknowledgments or other similar documents executed or delivered with 
respect to the subject matter hereof that conflict with the terms of the Agreement shall 
be null, void & without effect to the extent they conflict with the terms of this Agreement. 

16. Amendment:  This Agreement shall not be subject to amendment unless another 
instrument is duly executed by duly authorized representatives of each of the parties and 
entitled "Amendment of Agreement". 



 

6

17. Severability of Invalid Provisions:  If any provision of the Agreement shall be held to 
contravene or to be invalid under the laws of any particular state, county or jurisdiction 
where used, such contravention shall not invalidate the entire Agreement, but it shall be 
construed as if not containing the particular provisions held to be invalid in the particular 
state, country or jurisdiction and the rights or obligations of the parties hereto shall be 
construed and enforced accordingly. 

18. Force Majeure:  Neither Client nor Engineer shall be liable for any fault or delay caused 
by any contingency beyond their control including but not limited to acts of God, wars, 
strikes, walkouts, fires, natural calamities, or demands or requirements of governmental 
agencies.

19. Subcontracts: Engineer may subcontract portions of the work, but each subcontractor 
must be approved by Client in writing. 

20. Access and Permits:  Client shall arrange for Engineer to enter upon public and private 
property and obtain all necessary approvals and permits required from all governmental 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Project.  Client shall pay costs (including 
Engineer's employee salaries, overhead and fee) incident to any effort by Engineer 
toward assisting Client in such access, permits or approvals, if Engineer perform such 
services. 

21. Designation of Authorized Representative:  Each party (to this Agreement) shall 
designate one or more persons to act with authority in its behalf in respect to appropriate 
aspects of the Project.  The persons designated shall review and respond promptly to all 
communications received from the other party. 

22. Notices:  Any notice or designation required to be given to either party hereto shall be in 
writing, and unless receipt of such notice is expressly required by the terms hereof shall 
be deemed to be effectively served when deposited in the mail with sufficient first class 
postage affixed, and addressed to the party to whom such notice is directed at such 
party's place of business or such other address as either party shall hereafter furnish to 
the other party by written notice as herein provided. 

23. Limit of Liability:  The Client and the Engineer have discussed the risks, rewards, and 
benefits of the project and the Engineer's total fee for services.  In recognition of the 
relative risks and benefits of the Project to both the Client and the Engineer, the risks 
have been allocated such that the Client agrees that to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, the Engineer's total aggregate liability to the Client for any and all injuries, claims, 
costs, losses, expenses, damages of any nature whatsoever or claim expenses arising 
out of this Agreement from any cause or causes, including attorney's fees and costs, 
and expert witness fees and costs, shall not exceed the total Engineer's fee for 
professional engineering services rendered on this project as made part of this 
Agreement.  Such causes included but are not limited to the Engineer's negligence, 
errors, omissions, strict liability or breach of contract.  It is intended that this limitation 
apply to any and all liability or cause of action however alleged or arising, unless 
otherwise prohibited by law.  



 

 7

24. Client's Responsibilities: The Client agrees to provide full information regarding 
requirements for and about the Project, including a program which shall set forth the 
Client's objectives, schedule, constraints, criteria, special equipment, systems and site 
requirements.

The Client agrees to furnish and pay for all legal, accounting and insurance counseling 
services as may be necessary at any time for the Project, including auditing services 
which the Client may require to verify the Contractor's Application for Payment or to 
ascertain how or for what purpose the Contractor has used the money paid by or on 
behalf of the Client. 

The Client agrees to require the Contractor, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to 
indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the Engineer, its consultants, and the employees 
and agents of any of them from and against any and all claims, suits, demands, 
liabilities, losses, damages, and costs ("Losses"), including but not limited to costs of 
defense, arising in whole or in part out of the negligence of the Contractor, its 
subcontractors, the officers, employees, agents, and subcontractors of any of them, or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless of whether or not such 
Losses are caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.  Specifically excluded from 
the foregoing are Losses arising out of the preparation or approval of maps, drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, change orders, designs, or specifications, and the giving of or 
failure to give directions by the Engineer, its consultants, and the agents and employees 
of any of them, provided such giving or failure to give is the primary cause of Loss. The 
Client also agrees to require the Contractor to provide to the Engineer the required 
certificate of insurance.

The Client further agrees to require the Contractor to name the Engineer, its agents and 
consultants as additional insureds on the Contractor's policy or policies of 
comprehensive or commercial general liability insurance.  Such insurance shall include 
products and completed operations and contractual liability coverages, shall be primary 
and noncontributing with any insurance maintained by the Engineer or its agents and 
consultants, and shall provide that the Engineer be given thirty days, unqualified written 
notice prior to any cancellation thereof. 

In the event the foregoing requirements, or any of them, are not established by the 
Client and met by the Contractor, the Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Engineer, its employees, agents, and consultants from and against any and all Losses 
which would have been indemnified and insured against by the Contractor, but were not. 

When Contract Documents prepared under the Scope of Services of this contract 
require insurance(s) to be provided, obtained and/or otherwise maintained by the 
Contractor, the Client agrees to be wholly responsible for setting forth any and all such 
insurance requirements.  Furthermore, any document provided for Client review by the 
Engineer under this Contract related to such insurance(s) shall be considered as sample 
insurance requirements and not the recommendation of the Engineer.  Client agrees to 
have their own risk management department review any and all insurance requirements 
for adequacy and to determine specific types of insurance(s) required for the project.  
Client further agrees that decisions concerning types and amounts of insurance are 



 

 8

specific to the project and shall be the product of the Client.  As such, any and all 
insurance requirements made part of Contract Documents prepared by the Engineer are 
not to be considered the Engineer's recommendation, and the Client shall make the final 
decision regarding insurance requirements. 

25. Information Provided by Others:  The Engineer shall indicate to the Client the 
information needed for rendering of the services of this Agreement.  The Client shall 
provide to the Engineer such information as is available to the Client and the Client's 
consultants and contractors, and the Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy 
and completeness thereof.  The Client recognizes that it is impossible for the Engineer 
to assure the accuracy, completeness and sufficiency of such information, either 
because it is impossible to verify, or because of errors or omissions which may have 
occurred in assembling the information the Client is providing.  Accordingly, the Client 
agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold the Engineer and the 
Engineer's subconsultants harmless from any claim, liability or cost (including 
reasonable attorneys' fees and cost of defense) for injury or loss arising or allegedly 
arising from errors, omissions or inaccuracies in documents or other information 
provided by the Client to the Engineer. 

26. Payment:  Client shall be invoiced once each month for work performed during the 
preceding period.  Client agrees to pay each invoice within thirty (30) days of its receipt. 
The client further agrees to pay interest on all amounts invoiced and not paid or objected 
to for valid cause within said thirty (30) day period at the rate of eighteen (18) percent 
per annum (or the maximum interest rate permitted under applicable law, whichever is 
the lesser) until paid.  Client further agrees to pay Engineer's cost of collection of all 
amounts due and unpaid after sixty (60) days, including court costs and reasonable 
attorney's fees, as well as costs attributed to suspension of services accordingly and as 
follows:

Collection Costs.  In the event legal action is necessary to enforce the payment 
provisions of this Agreement, the Engineer shall be entitled to collect from the 
Client any judgement or settlement sums due, reasonable attorneys' fees, court 
costs and expenses incurred by the Engineer in connection therewith and, in 
addition, the reasonable value of the Engineer's time and expenses spent in 
connection with such collection action, computed at the Engineer's prevailing fee 
schedule and expense policies. 

Suspension of Services.  If the Client fails to make payments when due or 
otherwise is in breach of this Agreement, the Engineer may suspend 
performance of services upon five (5) calendar days' notice to the Client.  The 
Engineer shall have no liability whatsoever to the Client for any costs or damages 
as a result of such suspension caused by any breach of this Agreement by the 
Client.  Client will reimburse Engineer for all associated costs as previously set 
forth in (Item 4 of) this Agreement. 

27. When construction observation tasks are part of the service to be performed by the 
Engineer under this Agreement, the Client will include the following clause in the 
construction contract documents and Client agrees not to modify or delete it: 



 

 9

Kotecki Waiver.  Contractor (and any subcontractor into whose subcontract this 
clause is incorporated) agrees to assume the entire liability for all personal injury 
claims suffered by its own employees, including without limitation claims under 
the Illinois Structural Work Act, asserted by persons allegedly injured on the 
Project; waives any limitation of liability defense based upon the Worker's 
Compensation Act, court interpretations of said Act or otherwise; and to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless and 
defend Owner and Engineer and their agents, employees and consultants (the 
"Indemnitees") from and against all such loss, expense, damage or injury, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees, that the Indemnitees may sustain as a 
result of such claims, except to the extent that Illinois law prohibits indemnity for 
the Indemnitees' own negligence.  The Owner and Engineer are designated and 
recognized as explicit third party beneficiaries of the Kotecki Waiver within the 
general contract and all subcontracts entered into in furtherance of the general 
contract.

28. Job Site Safety/Supervision & Construction Observation: The Engineer shall neither 
have control over or charge of, nor be responsible for, the construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences of procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Work since they are solely the Contractor's rights and 
responsibilities. The Client agrees that the Contractor shall supervise and direct the work 
efficiently with his/her best skill and attention; and that the Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of 
construction and safety at the job site. The Client agrees and warrants that this intent 
shall be carried out in the Client's contract with the Contractor. The Client further agrees 
that the Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all 
safety precautions and programs in connection with the work; and that the Contractor 
shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to all employees on the subject site and all 
other persons who may be affected thereby. The Engineer shall have no authority to 
stop the work of the Contractor or the work of any subcontractor on the project. 

When construction observation services are included in the Scope of Services, the 
Engineer shall visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of the Contractor's 
operation, or as otherwise agreed to by the Client and the Engineer to: 1) become 
generally familiar with and to keep the Client informed about the progress and quality of 
the Work; 2) to strive to bring to the Client's attention defects and deficiencies in the 
Work and; 3) to determine in general if the Work is being performed in a manner 
indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. However, the Engineer shall not be required to make exhaustive or 
continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. If the Client 
desires more extensive project observation, the Client shall request that such services 
be provided by the Engineer as Additional and Supplemental Construction Observation 
Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

The Engineer shall not be responsible for any acts or omissions of the Contractor, 
subcontractor, any entity performing any portions of the Work, or any agents or 
employees of any of them. The Engineer does not guarantee the performance of the 



 

 10

Contractor and shall not be responsible for the Contractor's failure to perform its Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents or any applicable laws, codes, rules or 
regulations.

When municipal review services are included in the Scope of Services, the Engineer 
(acting on behalf of the municipality), when acting in good faith in the discharge of its 
duties, shall not thereby render itself liable personally and is, to the maximum extent 
permitted by law, relieved from all liability for any damage that may accrue to persons or 
property by reason of any act or omission in the discharge of its duties. Any suit brought 
against the Engineer which involve the acts or omissions performed by it in the 
enforcement of any provisions of the Client's rules, regulation and/or ordinance shall be 
defended by the Client until final termination of the proceedings. The Engineer shall be 
entitled to all defenses and municipal immunities that are, or would be, available to the 
Client.

29. Insurance and Indemnification: The Engineer and the Client understand and agree that 
the Client will contractually require the Contractor to defend and indemnify the Engineer 
and/or any subconsultants from any claims arising from the Work. The Engineer and the 
Client further understand and agree that the Client will contractually require the 
Contractor to procure commercial general liability insurance naming the Engineer as an 
additional named insured with respect to the work. The Contractor shall provide to the 
Client certificates of insurance evidencing that the contractually required insurance 
coverage has been procured. However, the Contractor’s failure to provide the Client with 
the requisite certificates of insurance shall not constitute a waiver of this provision by the 
Engineer.

The Client and Engineer waive all rights against each other and against the Contractor 
and consultants, agents and employees of each of them for damages to the extent 
covered by property insurance during construction. The Client and Engineer each shall 
require similar waivers from the Contractor, consultants, agents and persons or entities 
awarded separate contracts administered under the Client's own forces. 

30. Hazardous Materials/Pollutants: Unless otherwise provided by this Agreement, the 
Engineer and Engineer's consultants shall have no responsibility for the discovery, 
presence, handling, removal or disposal of or exposure of persons to hazardous 
materials/pollutants in any form at the Project site, including but not limited to 
mold/mildew, asbestos, asbestos products, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) or other 
toxic/hazardous/pollutant type substances. 

Furthermore, Client understands that the presence of mold/mildew and the like are 
results of prolonged or repeated exposure to moisture and the lack of corrective action.  
Client also understands that corrective action is a operation, maintenance and repair 
activity for which the Engineer is not responsible. 

June 13, 2005 
P:\Proposals\Terms and Conditions\GT&C 2005.061305.doc 



IX. Action Item D
Approval of Contract with

Midwest Mechanical

Glencoe Park District
February 2020 Board Meeting



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   Board of Commissioners   
FROM:  Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director and Chris Leiner, Director of Parks & 

Maintenance 
SUBJECT:  Approval of Contract Midwest Mechanical 
DATE:  February 5, 2020 
 
 
As previously discussed in the February 4, 2020 Committee of the Whole meeting, to 
improve reliability, the Park District is upgrading to a full-service HVAC maintenance 
contract for the Takiff Center and Watts Recreational Center. Also included is a 
preventative maintenance only contract for the GYS building.  
 
Cost Break Down 
Takiff  $72,904 
Watts  $8,716 
GYS  $1,194 
Total  $82,814 

 
Recommended Motion: 
Approval of the Midwest Mechanical contract for the amount of $82,814 for the 
mechanical maintenance repair services of the Takiff Center, Watts Recreational 
Center, and GYS building. 
 



MEMORANDUM    Memo from the February 4 Committee Packet  

 

TO:    Lisa Sheppard, Executive Director  
FROM:  Chris Leiner, Director of Parks & Maintenance 
SUBJECT:   Recommended Changes to HVAC Maintenance Program 
DATE:  January 28, 2020  
 
 
Based on contractor performance, equipment condition, and current costs, I am 
proposing making a change to the way the Park District manages its inventory of HVAC 
equipment and boilers. The below memo summarizes existing conditions and provides 
a new proposed plan of action.  
 
Current Operational Model 
The District currently has a limited maintenance agreement with Althoff Industries for 
the Takiff Center. In that agreement, Althoff performs limited preventative maintenance 
including filter changes and belt-tightening for an annual fee. Further maintenance is 
performed on a time and materials rate, including emergency repair rates. No other 
facility than the Takiff Center has a contract for HVAC equipment and boilers.  At all 
other facilities, staff performs preventative maintenance and calls Althoff for repairs as 
needed. In addition, Park District staff does limited HVAC repairs and provides R-22 
directly to the contractor.  
 
Evaluation of Current Model 
Based on the current equipment inventory, the model leaves much to be desired. Althoff 
has no financial incentive to alert the District to potential concerns before equipment 
failure. When equipment fails, the District is not in the position to evaluate and quote 
repairs, the repair is an emergency, and we must approve Althoff’s repair estimate or 
face an interruption in service.  
 
Our current agreement with Althoff centers on making repairs, not maintenance, and 
capital replacement. We have little control over the quality of work, communication, and 
cost.  
 
Capital replacement cannot be managed via Althoff. They do not provide in-house 
engineering or NCPA Co-Op prices. When it is time for capital replacement, the District 
must retain an engineer and then pursue the additional process of legal bidding. This 
process can be costly. 
 
The maintenance performed by District staff is reactionary and is usually a result of the 
contractor being unresponsive. This maintenance is performed at the supervisor level 
and takes key players away from critical tasks that cannot be contracted out. 
 
The existing model places emphasis on the knowledge base of current staff.  This has 
made the operation of the facilities dependent on the experience of one staff member.  



MEMORANDUM    Memo from the February 4 Committee Packet  

 

 
This presents a challenge in the succession planning process.  
 
In the last three years, the District has experienced several critical failures that could 
have resulted in an interruption in climate control at the Takiff Center. Specific examples 
include: 
 
1. The breakdown of the cooling unit for Children’s Circle in 2017, which required 

temporary cooling units to be installed during the two-week repair. 
2. The breakdown of the electric motor in the ELC air handler during the polar vortex of 

2018. This was remedied by staff planning and hard work, not the HVAC contractor. 
Had staff not had replacement parts on-hand, the ELC/GJK/CC Wing would have 
been without heat for an extended period. 

3. The failure of two compressors on two separate condensers during August of 2019 
required an extensive emergency repair during the facility shut-down.  

 
All of the notated issues could have been remedied with a stronger preventative 
maintenance contract and additional oversight from the contractor.  
 
The below chart represents the costs of operational HVAC/boiler maintenance to the 
District in the last three fiscal years. The numbers for this fiscal year FY2019/20 are to-
date plus a projection based on last fiscal year’s costs. 
 

 
 
The additional projection was developed by adding the remaining cost of the FY2019/20 
Altoff Service Contract at Takiff ($772) with an allowance for repairs. 
 
The existing maintenance model would be appropriate for the first one to five years of a 
recently constructed facility when repairs would be under warranty and minimal. 
 
Equipment Condition 
As we have previously discussed, much of the HVAC equipment at the Takiff Center is 
nearing the end of its useful life. In the next several years, the equipment will 
experience additional breakdowns and will eventually require a total replacement. The 
majority of the HVAC equipment at the Watts Recreational Center was replaced in 
2018, while in good condition, still requires annual maintenance. The manufacturer’s  
warranty on the newer Watts’ equipment will expire next year. The District’s operational 
HVAC costs are trending upward based on equipment condition. 
 

Fiscal Year Althoff District Purchased Parts Additional Projection Total
FY 19/20 to date $53,095.00 $15,324.00 $2,000.00 $70,419.00

FY18/19 Actuals $50,590.00 $9,984.00 $60,574.00
FY17/18 Actuals $21,905.00 $11,195.00 $31,889.00



MEMORANDUM    Memo from the February 4 Committee Packet  

 

 
The District will need engineering and contractual support in determining and executing 
a capital replacement plan for the existing HVAC equipment at the Takiff Center.  
 
Proposed Solution for Takiff and Watts 
Staff has met extensively with representatives from Midwest Mechanical. After an 
extensive audit of the facilities, they have proposed a full-service contract for the Takiff 
Center and the Watts Recreational Center. For an annual fee,  Midwest will provide all 
preventative maintenance and repairs on all HVAC equipment, including boilers. On the 
whole, Midwest will be maintaining an inventory of equipment with an approximately 
$850,000 replacement cost. There would be no additional cost for travel time, 
emergency calls, parts, repairs, cranes, R22, or equipment testing.  
 
Every single moving part is covered. The benefit of this program is that the contractor is 
taking on the risk of managing the HVAC system. Through proper maintenance and 
testing, the contractor will seek to extend the life of the equipment to maximize their 
profit versus waiting for equipment breakdowns and then cashing in. 
 
Repairs that go beyond maintenance are not covered such as replacing every 
component inside a unit versus total capital replacement or the replacement of coils.  
 
Furthermore, the contractor is NCPA certified, which means that they already have 
guaranteed low bidder status via a co-op agreement, which would apply to the 
maintenance agreement and capital replacements.  
 
The price furnished to the District does not take into account the planned capital 
replacements next year. Those units will be covered under a factory warranty and not 
included in the full coverage maintenance plan. With the scheduled replacement of RTU 
1 & 2, we could expect a 12% decrease in the cost of the full coverage plan. 
 
Attached to this memo, you will find a complete list of equipment covered by the 
proposed plan. 
 
Proposed Solution GYS 
Midwest has proposed a preventative maintenance only plan. The infrastructure in place 
in these facilities requires less specialized oversight. Break-downs typically do not 
interrupt the District’s business operations. Midwest would inspect and maintain the 
equipment, and if repairs were needed, we could measure costs versus completing in-
house if time allows. Repairs would be billed separately. We would have support from 
the contractor without the additional cost of a total replacement contract.  
 
References 
Several neighboring districts have begun to utilize Midwest in various capacities. I 
checked references with Gurnee and Glenview Park Districts. Both districts were  



MEMORANDUM    Memo from the February 4 Committee Packet  

 

 
positive in evaluating Midwest. 
 
Proposed Maintenance Plan Costs 
 

 
 

Synopsis 
The agreement with Midwest represents a significant departure from the previous 
model. While it does increase maintenance sots by an estimated $12,000/yr (based on 
FY2019/20 YTD),  we recommend pursuing this agreement for the following reasons: 
 
 Elimination of high emergency repair costs 
 Meeting the required level of service necessary to maintain an equipment inventory 

nearing the end of its useful life 
 Continuity of equipment operation, breakdowns are not in the contractor’s best 

interest 
 The potential to extend the service life of the equipment via excellent preventative 

maintenance. 
 Providing a higher level of support to staff, enabling an increase in efficiency in 

managing the HVAC equipment 
 Improvement in succession planning for the Parks/Maintenance Department; the 

current model is only sustainable by specialized key staff experience  
 

Facility Per year
Takiff Center $72,094.00

Watts Recreational Center $8,716.00
GYS $1,194.00

Total $82,004.00










































































	Agenda
	III. Consent Agenda Items
	January 21, 2020 Regular Board Mtg Minutes
	February 4, 2020 Finance Committee of the Whole Mtg Minutes
	Voucher List 01/15/20-02/12/20

	V. BINA Hearing
	Memo: BINA Hearing

	VI. Financial Report
	G/L Monthly Pooled Cash Report
	Monthly Funds Report
	Monthly Financial Analysis

	VII. Staff Reports
	Business Dept. Report
	Recreation/Facilities Dept. Report
	Parks/Maintenance Dept. Report
	Marketing/Communications Report
	January 22, 2020 Safety and Wellness Committee Mtg Minutes

	VIII. Executive Director's Report
	Executive Director's Report
	Strategic Plan Road Map
	Glencoe Trail Potential Social Space Designs

	IX. Action Item A: GYS/SNAP Stipend Request
	Memo: GYS/SNAP Stipend Request
	GYS/SNAP Request

	IX. Action Item B: GJHP Stipend Request
	Memo: GJHP Stipend Request
	GJHP Request

	IX. Action Item C: Christopher B. Burke Engineering Contract
	Memo: CBELL Contract
	CBELL Contract

	IX: Action Item D: Midwest Mechanical Contract
	Memo: Midwest Mechanical Contract
	Memo from 2/4/2020 Committee Packet: Changes to HVAC Maintenance Program
	Midwest Mechanical Contract




